UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
x

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

o

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the transition period from

to

.

Commission File Number 001-32472

DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Texas
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

74-2095844
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

508 West Wall, Suite 800, Midland, Texas
(Address of principal executive offices)

79701
(Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (432) 684-3000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share
(Title of Class)

The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(Name of exchange on which registered)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes o No x
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes o No x
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No o
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405) is not contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or
any amendment to this Form 10-K. x
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer x Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o No x
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the common
equity was last sold as of the last business day of the Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter was $86,822,325.
Number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 6, 2015: 21,692,447
Documents incorporated by reference
Listed below are documents, parts of which are incorporated herein by reference, and the part of this report into which the document is incorporated:
Proxy statement for the 2015 annual meeting of shareholders — Part III

EXPLANATORY NOTE
This report is the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 of Dawson Geophysical Company, which was formerly
known as TGC Industries, Inc. (“Legacy TGC”), prior to the consummation on February 11, 2015 of the strategic business combination described below.
On February 11, 2015, Legacy TGC completed its previously announced strategic business combination with Dawson Operating Company, which
was formerly known as Dawson Geophysical Company (“Legacy Dawson”), pursuant to which Riptide Acquisition Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Legacy TGC, merged with and into Legacy Dawson, with Legacy Dawson continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Legacy TGC (the “Merger”). As a result of the Merger, the former shareholders of Legacy Dawson received shares of Legacy TGC common stock
representing approximately 66% of the outstanding common shares of the post-merger combined company, and Legacy TGC’s shareholders retained
approximately 34% of the outstanding common shares of the post-merger combined company. In connection with the Merger, Legacy Dawson changed its
name to “Dawson Operating Company” and Legacy TGC changed its name to “Dawson Geophysical Company.”
Although this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed by post-combination Dawson Geophysical Company, except as otherwise specifically noted
herein, the financial statements, other financial information and the business information set forth herein generally speak only as to Legacy TGC and its precombination subsidiaries, including Eagle Canada, Inc., as of and for the three years ended December 31, 2014, which period pre-dates the February 11, 2015
consummation of the strategic business combination between Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson. This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include the
financial results of pre-combination Legacy Dawson and its subsidiaries for such periods. Accordingly, except as otherwise specifically noted herein,
references herein to “Legacy TGC,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer only to Legacy TGC and its pre-combination subsidiaries and not to Legacy
Dawson and its pre-combination subsidiaries.
Beginning with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2015, post-combination Dawson Geophysical Company will
report on a consolidated basis representing the combined operations of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson and their respective subsidiaries. The quarter
ending March 31, 2015 will be the first quarterly reporting period following the combination of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson, which was consummated
on February 11, 2015. Because Legacy Dawson was deemed the accounting acquirer under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, the
historical financial statements of Legacy Dawson will be treated as the historical financial statements of the combined company and will be reflected in postcombination Dawson Geophysical Company’s future quarterly and annual reports.
In addition, supplemental information concerning the business and properties of post-combination Dawson Geophysical Company (representing the
combined operations of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson and their respective subsidiaries) will be included in its Form 8-K/A to be filed on or before
April 30, 2015.
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PART I
Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” as defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which reflect our view with respect to future events. We base these forward-looking statements on our current
expectations and projections about future events. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about us, including:
·

dependence upon energy industry spending for seismic data acquisition services;

·

changes in economic conditions;

·

the unpredictable nature of forecasting weather;

·

the potential for contract delay or cancellation;

·

the potential for fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices; and

·

the availability of capital resources.

We use the words “may,” “will,” “can,” “could,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “target,” “continue,” “intend,” “plan,”
“budget,” and other similar words to identify forward-looking statements. You should read statements that contain these words carefully because they
discuss future expectations, contain projections of results of operations or of our financial condition, and/or state other “forward-looking” information. We
do not undertake any obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, except as required by law. These statements also involve risks
and uncertainties that could cause our actual results or financial condition to differ materially from our expectations in this Form 10-K.
We believe that it is important to communicate our expectations of future performance to our investors. However, events may occur in the future
that we are unable to accurately predict or over which we have no control. When considering our forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the
risk factors and other cautionary statements contained in this Form 10-K and other factors noted throughout this Form 10-K. There are many risks,
uncertainties, and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Please read the section
entitled “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain risks of our business and an investment in our common stock.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Completion of Acquisition
On February 11, 2015, pursuant to the previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 8, 2014 (the “Merger Agreement”), by
and among the Company, Legacy Dawson and Merger Sub, Merger Sub was merged with and into Legacy Dawson, with Legacy Dawson continuing after the
merger as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). At the effective time of the Merger, without any action on the
part of any shareholder, each issued and outstanding share of Legacy Dawson’s common stock, par value $0.331/3 per share (the “Legacy Dawson Common
Stock”), including shares underlying Legacy Dawson’s outstanding equity awards, was converted into the right to receive 1.760 shares of common stock of
the Company, par value $0.01 per share (the “Company Common Stock”), after giving effect to a 1-for-3 reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding
Company Common Stock which occurred immediately prior to the Merger (the “Reverse Stock Split”). In connection with the Merger, Legacy Dawson
changed its name to “Dawson Operating Company” and the Company changed its name to “Dawson Geophysical Company.” All shares and per share
amounts in this Form 10-K have been retrospectively adjusted to give effect to the Reverse Stock Split.
General
At December 31, 2014 and prior to the Merger, our Company, a Texas corporation, and our wholly-owned subsidiary, Eagle Canada, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, were primarily engaged in the geophysical service business of conducting three-dimensional (“3-D”) surveys for clients in the oil and gas
business. Following the Merger, our Company’s principal business office is located at 508 West Wall, Suite 800, Midland, Texas 79701 (Telephone: 432684-3000), and our internet address is www.dawson3d.com. We make available free of charge on our website our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K as soon as reasonably practicable after filing or furnishing such information with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
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In April of 1980, Supreme Industries, Inc. (“Supreme”), formerly ESI Industries, Inc., formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Tidelands Geophysical
Co., Inc. (“Tidelands”) that acquired certain equipment, instruments, and related supplies from a Houston-based corporation that was engaged in the business
of conducting seismic, gravity, and magnetic surveys under contracts for oil and natural gas companies. On June 30, 1986, the Boards of Directors of
Supreme and Tidelands approved a spin-off of substantially all of the shares of Tidelands owned by Supreme which were distributed as a stock dividend to
Supreme’s security holders. In July of 1986, our name was changed from “Tidelands Geophysical Co., Inc.” to “TGC Industries, Inc.” As described above, we
completed the Merger with Legacy Dawson on February 11, 2015, and in connection with the Merger, our name was changed to “Dawson Geophysical
Company.”
Overview
We are a leading provider of seismic data acquisition services throughout the continental United States and Canada. As of December 31, 2014, we
operated eight seismic crews consisting of three crews in the United States and five crews in Canada. These seismic crews supply seismic data primarily to
companies engaged in the exploration and development of oil and natural gas on land and in land-to-water transition areas. Seismic acquisition services of
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Eagle Canada, Inc. (“Eagle Canada”) are also used by the potash mining industry in Canada, and Eagle Canada has particular
expertise through its heliportable capabilities. Our customers rely on seismic data to identify areas where subsurface conditions are favorable for the
accumulation of existing hydrocarbons, to optimize the development and production of hydrocarbon reservoirs, to better delineate existing oil and natural
gas fields, and to augment reservoir management techniques.
We acquire geophysical data using the latest in 3-D survey techniques. We introduce acoustic energy into the ground by using vibration equipment
or dynamite detonation, depending on the surface terrain and subsurface requirements. The reflected energy, or echoes, is received through geophones,
converted into a digital signal at a multi-channel recording unit, and then transmitted to a central recording vehicle. Subsurface requirements dictate the
number of channels necessary to perform our services. With our state-of-the-art seismic equipment, including computer technology and multiple channels, we
acquire, on a cost effective basis, immense volumes of seismic data that, when processed and interpreted, produce more precise images of the earth’s
subsurface. Our customers then use our seismic data to generate 3-D geologic models that help reduce finding costs and improve recovery rates from existing
wells.
The operations of Legacy Dawson are substantially similar to those of our Company, except that Legacy Dawson’s historical annual revenues have
been approximately twice as large as those of our Company, Legacy Dawson has in-house trucking and data processing capabilities and has had a larger
presence than us in the United States, and our Company has in-house dynamite energy source drilling service capabilities and has had a larger presence than
Legacy Dawson in Canada. As of December 31, 2014, Legacy Dawson employed over 1,079 persons, of which approximately 928 were engaged in providing
energy sources and acquiring data, operating in the lower 48 states of the United States and Canada.
The Industry
Technological advances in seismic equipment and computing allow the seismic industry to acquire and process, on a cost-effective basis, immense
volumes of seismic data which produce precise images of the earth’s subsurface. The latest accepted method of seismic data acquisition, processing, and the
subsequent interpretation of the processed data is the 3-D seismic method. Geophysicists use computer workstations to interpret 3-D data volumes, identify
subsurface anomalies, and generate a geologic model of subsurface features.
3-D seismic data are used in the exploration and development of new reserves and enable oil and natural gas companies to better delineate existing
fields and to augment their reservoir management techniques. Benefits of incorporating high resolution 3-D seismic surveys into exploration and
development programs include reducing drilling risk, decreasing oil and natural gas finding costs, and increasing the efficiencies of reservoir location,
delineation, and management. In order to meet the requirements necessary to fully realize the benefits of 3-D seismic data, there is an increasing demand for
improved data quality with greater subsurface resolution.
Currently, the seismic data acquisition industry is made up of a number of companies divided into two groups. The first group is made up of three
publicly-traded companies with long operating histories that field numerous crews and work in a number of different regions and terrain. This group includes
us, SAExploration Holdings, Inc., or SAE, and CGG (which recently sold its North American onshore seismic contract acquisition business to
Geokinetics, Inc., or Geokinetics). The second group is made up of Geokinetics, Global Geophysical Services, Inc., or Global Geophysical, Tesla
Exploration, Ltd., or Tesla, Breckenridge Geophysical Inc., or Breckenridge, Paragon Geophysical Services, Inc., or Paragon, LoneStar Geophysical Surveys,
or LoneStar, and smaller companies which generally run one or two seismic crews and often specialize in specific regions or types of operations.
We provide our seismic data acquisition services primarily to onshore oil and natural gas exploration and development companies for use in the
onshore drilling and production of oil and natural gas in the continental United States and Canada. The main factors influencing demand for seismic data
acquisition services in our industry are the level of drilling activity by oil and natural gas companies and the sizes of such companies’ exploration and
development budgets, which, in turn, depend largely on current and anticipated future crude oil and natural gas prices and depletion rates.
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Equipment and Crews
During 2011 and 2012, an increase in the demand for seismic services allowed for an expansion of the Company’s crew count from eleven crews at
December 31, 2010, to twelve crews at December 31, 2011, and to fourteen crews at December 31, 2012. Demand for seismic services softened beginning
early in 2013 and remained soft throughout 2014. As a result we decreased our crew count in 2013 and ended 2013 and 2014 with eight crews.
In January of 2012, we purchased an additional 14,200 channels of GSR equipment financed by existing cash and a note payable to a commercial
bank. In April of 2012, the Company purchased seven new INOVA vibration vehicles with existing cash. Also in April of 2012, the Company purchased
13,000 channels of GSR equipment financed partially with existing cash and partially by a note payable to a commercial bank. In October of 2012, we
purchased 8,000 stations of 3-channel GSX wireless recording system along with all peripheral equipment. GSX wireless recording systems are the most
current GSR wireless recording systems available. The purchase of the OYO Geospace GSX recording system equipment was financed partially with existing
cash and partially by a note payable to a commercial bank. Beginning early in 2013, we experienced a softening in demand for seismic services and, as a
result, the Company adopted a maintenance capital expenditures program curtailing large equipment purchases for the duration of the year and continuing
into 2014. In September 2014, we purchased a 10,500-channel INOVA Hawk seismic data acquisition system financed with a note payable to a commercial
bank. INOVA Hawk wireless recording systems are among the most current wireless recording systems available.
As of December 31, 2014, we owned equipment for 16 land-based seismic data acquisition crews and 73 vibration vehicles. Each crew consists of
approximately 40 to 80 technicians with associated vehicles, geophones, a seismic recording system, energy sources, cables, and a variety of other
equipment. Each ARAM crew has one central recording vehicle which captures seismic data. The GSR, GSX and INOVA Hawk crews utilize a recorder to
manage the data acquisition while the individual system captures and holds the data until they are placed in the Data Transfer Module. The data is then
transferred to a CD-ROM or data tape which is delivered to a data processing center selected by the customer.
In addition to the Legacy TGC equipment referenced above, as of December 31, 2014, Legacy Dawson owned approximately 157 vibrator energy
source units, approximately 179,000 recording channels and sixteen central recording systems. Of the sixteen recording systems Legacy Dawson owned at
December 31, 2014, seven were Geospace Technologies GSR cable-less recording systems, eight were ARAM ARIES cable-based recording systems, and one
was a Wireless Seismic RT System 2 system. During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, Legacy Dawson operated eight to ten data acquisition crews.
Each crew consisted of approximately forty to one hundred technicians, twenty-five or more vehicles with off-road capabilities, up to 100,000 geophones, a
seismic recording system, energy sources, electronic cables and a variety of other equipment.
Capital Expenditures
We believe that it is essential to take advantage of advances in seismic technology and to commit capital to purchase and update our equipment
cost-effectively. Purchasing and updating seismic equipment and technology involves a commitment to capital spending. We also tie our capital
expenditures closely to demand for our services. As a result, due to the continuing softening in demand for seismic services beginning early in 2013, the
Company adopted a maintenance capital expenditures program curtailing large equipment purchases for the duration of 2013 and, with the exception of the
INOVA Hawk seismic data acquisition system purchase disclosed earlier, continuing through 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we made
capital expenditures of approximately $7,955,000, which includes the INOVA Hawk system purchase and maintenance of existing equipment. During the
year ended December 31, 2013, we made capital expenditures of approximately $2,475,000, primarily to maintain existing equipment. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, capital expenditures of approximately $57,108,000 were used to acquire, maintain, and replace seismic equipment and vehicles.
Major purchases in 2012 included our fourth GSR System with 7,200 channels, our fifth GSR System with 7,000 channels, our sixth GSR System with 13,000
channels, some of which were added to existing systems, an 8,000 station 3-channel GSX wireless recording system, and seven new INOVA vibration
vehicles. These major investments should continue to bring us the benefits of these new technologies.
Customers
Our customers are major and independent oil and natural gas exploration and development companies. The services we provide to our customers
vary according to the size and needs of each customer. Our services are marketed by supervisory and executive personnel who contact customers to
determine their needs and respond to customer inquiries regarding the availability of crews. Contacts are based principally upon professional relationships
developed over a number of years.
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During 2014, our two largest customers accounted for approximately 18% and 11% of revenues, respectively. During 2013, our largest customer
accounted for approximately 12% of revenues. During 2012, our largest customer accounted for approximately 16% of revenues. At December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, our backlog was approximately $37 million and $52 million, respectively. We filled our 2013 backlog during fiscal 2014, and
anticipate filling our 2014 backlog during fiscal year 2015. Due to our backlog and the Merger, we would not expect the loss of any single customer would
have a material adverse effect on the operations of the newly combined company.
In order to avoid potential conflicts of interest with our customers, we do not participate in oil and natural gas ventures. The results of a seismic
survey conducted for a customer belong to that customer. All of our customers’ information is maintained in strictest confidence.
Domestic and Foreign Operations
We derived our revenue from domestic and foreign sources. Total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 were approximately
$118,848,000, of which $68,371,000 were earned in the United States and $50,477,000 were earned in Canada. Total revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2013 were approximately $134,535,000, of which $86,519,000 were earned in the United States and $48,016,000 were earned in Canada.
Total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 were approximately $196,317,000, of which $124,856,000 were earned in the United States and
$71,461,000 were earned in Canada.
Long-lived assets as of December 31, 2014 were approximately $48,792,000, with $18,621,000 located in the United States and $30,171,000
located in Canada. Long-lived assets as of December 31, 2013 were approximately $63,107,000, with $20,148,000 located in the United States and
$42,959,000 located in Canada. Long-lived assets as of December 31, 2012 were approximately $89,386,000, with $32,390,000 located in the United States
and $56,996,000 located in Canada.
Contracts
Our contracts are obtained either through competitive bidding or as a result of customer negotiations. Our services are conducted under general
service agreements for seismic data acquisition services which define certain obligations for us and for our customers. A supplemental agreement setting forth
the terms of a specific project, which may be canceled by either party upon 30 days’ advance written notice, is entered into for every project. We currently
operate under supplemental agreements that are either “turnkey” agreements providing for a fixed fee to be paid to us for each unit of data acquired or “term”
agreements providing for a fixed hourly, daily, or monthly fee during the term of the project or projects.
Competition
The acquisition of seismic data for the oil and natural gas industry is a highly competitive business. Contracts for such services generally are
awarded on the basis of price quotations, crew experience, and the availability of crews to perform in a timely manner, although factors other than price, such
as crew safety, performance history, and technological and operational expertise, are often determinative. Our competition includes publicly traded
competitors, such as CGG (which recently sold its North American onshore seismic contract acquisition business to Geokinetics) and SAE. Our other major
competitors include Geokinetics, Global Geophysical, Tesla, Breckenridge, Paragon and LoneStar. In addition to these previously named companies, we also
compete for projects from time to time with smaller seismic companies which operate in local markets with only one or two crews.
Employees
As of December 31, 2014, we employed a total of 745 full-time employees, of which 39 consisted of management, sales, and administrative
personnel with the remainder being crew and crew support personnel. We believe our relationship with our employees to be satisfactory.
Operating Risks and Insurance
Our business is subject to the hazards inherent in conducting seismic data acquisition activities in hostile environments with dangerous machinery,
and in some instances explosives. These activities can cause personal injury or loss of life, damage to or destruction of property, equipment, the environment,
and marine life, and suspension of operations.
In addition, we could be subject to personal injury or real property damage claims in the normal operation of our business. Such claims may not be
covered by the indemnification provisions in our general service agreements to the extent that the damage is due to our negligence or intentional
misconduct.
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We do not carry insurance against certain risks that we could experience such as business interruption resulting from equipment maintenance or
weather delays. We obtain insurance against certain property and personal casualty risks and other risks when such insurance is available and when our
management considers it advisable to do so. As of December 31, 2014, our insurance coverage consists of employers’ liability with limits of $1,000,000 per
accident and $2,000,000 in the aggregate, commercial general liability of $1,000,000 per accident and $2,000,000 in the aggregate, pollution liability of
$1,000,000 per accident and $2,000,000 in the aggregate, automobile liability with a $1,000,000 combined single limit, and a $20,000,000 umbrella policy.
Our general service agreements require us to have specific amounts of insurance. Management believes that the Company’s insurance coverage is adequate.
There can be no assurance, however, that any insurance obtained by us will be adequate to cover any losses or liabilities, or that this insurance will continue
to be available or available on terms which are acceptable to us. Liabilities for which we are not insured, or which exceed the policy limits of our applicable
insurance, could have a material adverse effect on us.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Any investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and
the other information included in this Form 10-K before purchasing our common stock. Although the risks described below are the risks that we believe are
material, they are not the only risks relating to our business, our industry and our common stock. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that are
not yet identified or that we currently believe are immaterial, may also adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. If any of the
events described below occur, our business and financial results could be materially and adversely affected. The market price of our common stock could
decline due to any of these risks, perhaps significantly, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in
this Item 1A to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” when used in a historical context, refer to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the
closing of the Merger, and when used in the present tense or prospectively, refer to the combined company and its subsidiaries, including Legacy Dawson,
following the Merger.
Company Risks
We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger, which could adversely affect the value of our common stock.
The success of the Merger will depend, in part, on our ability to manage effectively the businesses of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson and realize
the anticipated benefits from the combination of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson. We believe that these anticipated benefits, which include the expansion
of Legacy TGC’s geographic diversity, an increase in utilization rates due to an expanded order book and the ability to enhance efficiencies because of
logistical improvements, are achievable. However, it is possible that we will not be able to achieve these benefits fully, or at all, or will not be able to achieve
them within the anticipated timeframe. Prior to the completion of the Merger, Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson operated independently, and there can be no
assurance that their businesses can be integrated successfully. If our expectations as to the benefits of the Merger turn out to be incorrect, or we are not able to
successfully integrate the businesses of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson for any other reason, our financial and operating results and the value of our
common stock (including the stock issued as Merger consideration) may be adversely affected.
While certain key employees of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson have entered into employment agreements with us that became effective at the
effective time of the Merger, it is possible that the integration process could result in the loss of other key Legacy TGC or Legacy Dawson employees, as well
as disrupt our ongoing business or cause inconsistencies in our standards, controls, procedures and policies. Specific issues that must be addressed in order to
realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger include, among other things:
·

integrating Legacy TGC’s and Legacy Dawson’s strategies, cultures and operations;

·

retaining existing Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson clients and suppliers;

·

adopting best practices across the combined entity and harmonizing our operating practices, employee development and compensation programs,
internal controls and other policies, procedures and processes;

·

integrating Legacy TGC’s and Legacy Dawson’s corporate, administrative and information technology infrastructure; and

·

managing any tax costs or inefficiencies associated with integration.

In addition, at times, the attention of certain members of our management and the resources of our company may be focused on business aspects
related to the Merger and the integration of the businesses of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson and may be diverted from day-to-day business operations.
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We may incur losses.
Legacy TGC reported net loss of approximately $9,528,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to a net loss of approximately
$6,316,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, and net income of approximately $15,672,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012. Additionally,
Legacy Dawson reported a net loss of approximately $12,620,000 for its fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, compared to a net income of approximately
$10,480,000 and $11,113,000 for its fiscal years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Legacy TGC also reported net income for 2011, net loss
for 2010 and net income for 2009 and 2008, and Legacy Dawson reported net loss for its fiscal years 2011 and 2010 and net income for its fiscal years 2009
and 2008.
Our ability to be profitable in the future will depend on many factors beyond our control, but primarily on the level of demand for land-based
seismic data acquisition services by oil and natural gas exploration and development companies. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to
sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.
Our revenues and operating results can be expected to fluctuate from period to period.
Our revenues, operating results, and profitability may fluctuate from period to period. These fluctuations are attributable to the level of new business
in a particular period, the timing of the initiation, progress or cancellation of significant projects, higher revenues and expenses on our dynamite contracts,
and costs we incur to train new crews we may add in the future to meet increased customer demand. Fluctuations in our operating results may also be affected
by other factors that are outside of our control such as permit delays, weather delays and crew productivity. Oil and natural gas prices continued to be volatile
during the year ended December 31, 2014, and have resulted in significant demand fluctuations for our services. There can be no assurance of future oil and
gas price levels or stability. Our operations in Canada are also seasonal as a result of the thawing season and we have historically experienced limited
Canadian activity for the second and third calendar quarters of each year. The demand for our services will be adversely affected by a significant reduction in
oil and natural gas prices and by climate change legislation or material changes to U.S. energy policy. Because our business has high fixed costs, the
negative effect of one or more of these factors could trigger wide variations in our operating revenues, EBITDA margin, and profitability from quarter-toquarter, which these factors render quarter-to-quarter comparisons unreliable as an indicator of performance. Due to the factors discussed above, you should
not expect sequential growth in our quarterly revenues and profitability.
We face intense competition in our business from companies with greater financial resources.
The seismic data acquisition services industry is a highly competitive business in the continental U.S. and Canada. Our competitors include
companies with financial resources that are significantly greater than our own as well as companies of comparable and smaller size. In addition, the barriers to
entry in the seismic industry are not prohibitive, and it would not be difficult for seismic companies outside of the U.S. to enter the U.S. market and compete
with us.
Our clients could delay, reduce or cancel their service contracts with us on short notice, which may lead to lower than expected demand and
revenues.
Our order book reflects client commitments at levels we believe are sufficient to maintain operations on our existing crews for the indicated periods.
However, our clients can delay, reduce or cancel their service contracts with us on short notice. In addition, the timing of the origination and completion of
projects and when projects are awarded and contracted for is also uncertain. As a result, our order book as of any particular date may not be indicative of
actual demand and revenues for any succeeding fiscal period.
Our profitability is determined, in part, by the utilization level and productivity of our crews and is affected by numerous external factors that
are beyond our control.
Our revenue is determined, in part, by the contract price we receive for our services, the level of utilization of our data acquisition crews and the
productivity of these crews. Crew utilization and productivity is partly a function of external factors, such as client cancellation or delay of projects, or
operating delays from inclement weather, obtaining land access rights and other factors, over which we have no control. If our crews encounter operational
difficulties or delays on any data acquisition survey, our results of operations may vary, and in some cases, may be adversely affected.
We are subject to Canadian foreign currency exchange rate risk.
We conduct business in Canada which subjects us to foreign currency exchange rate risk. Our results of operations and our cash flows could be
impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
8

Capital requirements for our operations are large. If we are unable to finance these requirements, we may not be able to maintain our
competitive advantage.
Seismic data acquisition and data processing technologies historically have progressed rather rapidly, and we expect this trend to continue. In order
to remain competitive, we must continue to invest additional capital to maintain, upgrade and expand our seismic data acquisition capabilities. Our working
capital requirements remain high, primarily due to the expansion of our infrastructure in response to client demand for cable-less recording systems and more
recording channels, which has increased as the industry strives for improved data quality with greater subsurface resolution images. Our sources of working
capital are limited. We have historically funded our working capital requirements with cash generated from operations, cash reserves and borrowings from
commercial banks. Recently, we have funded some of our capital expenditures through equipment term loans and capital leases. In the past, we have also
funded our capital expenditures and other financing needs through public equity offerings. If we were to expand our operations at a rate exceeding operating
cash flow, if current demand or pricing of geophysical services were to decrease substantially or if technical advances or competitive pressures required us to
acquire new equipment faster than our cash flow could sustain, additional financing could be required. If we were not able to obtain such financing or renew
our existing revolving line of credit when needed, our failure could have a negative impact on our ability to pursue expansion and maintain our competitive
advantage.
Technological change in our business creates risks of technological obsolescence and requirements for future capital expenditures. If we are
unable to keep up with these technological advances, we may not be able to compete effectively.
Seismic data acquisition technologies historically have steadily improved and progressed, and we expect this progression to continue. Our strategy
had been to upgrade our seismic data acquisition equipment on a regular basis to maintain our competitive position, however, Legacy TGC has had a
maintenance capital expenditures policy in place since 2013. We are in a capital intensive industry and have limitations on our ability to obtain the
financing necessary to enable us to purchase state-of-the-art equipment. Certain of our competitors may be able to purchase newer equipment when we may
not be able to do so.
We rely on a limited number of key suppliers for specific seismic services and equipment.
We depend on a limited number of third parties to supply us with specific seismic services and equipment. From time to time, increased demand for
seismic data acquisition services has decreased the available supply of new seismic equipment, resulting in extended delivery dates on orders of new
equipment. Any delay in obtaining equipment could delay our deployment of additional crews and restrict the productivity of existing crews, adversely
affecting our business and results of operation. In addition, any adverse change in the terms of our suppliers’ arrangements could affect our results of
operations.
Some of our suppliers may also be our competitors. If competitive pressures were to become such that our suppliers would no longer sell to us, we
would not be able to easily replace the technology with equipment that communicates effectively with our existing technology, thereby impairing our ability
to conduct our business.
Inclement weather may adversely affect our ability to complete projects and could therefore adversely affect our results of operations.
Our seismic data acquisition operations could be adversely affected by inclement weather conditions. Delays associated with weather conditions
could adversely affect our results of operations. For example, weather delays could affect our operations on a particular project or an entire region and could
lengthen the time to complete data acquisition projects. In addition, even if we negotiate weather protection provisions in our contracts, we may not be fully
compensated by our clients for the delay caused by the inclement weather.
We are dependent on our management team and key employees, and the loss of any of them could harm our business.
We have limited management depth. The result of the loss, whether by death, departure or illness, of our President and Chief Executive Officer or
other senior executives could have a material adverse effect on the ability of management to continue operations at the same level of efficiency.
We extend credit to our customers without requiring collateral, and a default by a customer could have a material adverse effect on our
operating revenues.
We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial conditions and, generally, require no collateral from our customers. It is possible
that one or more of our clients will become financially distressed, which could cause them to default on their obligations to us and could reduce the client’s
future need for seismic services provided by us. Our concentration of clients may also increase our overall exposure to these credit risks. A default in payment
from one of our large customers could have a material adverse effect on our operating revenues for the period involved.
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Certain of our core assets are pledged as collateral for short term notes and other obligations that require large monthly payments.
Certain assets that are critical to Legacy TGC’s operations, including 7,200 channels of GSR equipment acquired in 2012, two GSX Systems with a
total of 13,000 channels acquired in 2012, an 8,000 station GSX system acquired in 2012 and a 10,500 channel INOVA Hawk system purchased in 2014 are
pledged as collateral to commercial banks and could be subject to foreclosure in the event that we default on our indebtedness having 36 to 60 month terms.
As of December 31, 2014, Legacy TGC had debt obligations covering the purchase of this equipment that require monthly payments between approximately
$128,000 and $216,000. These debt obligations mature at various dates ranging from June of 2015 to September of 2017. At December 31, 2014, Legacy
Dawson had three outstanding notes payable to commercial banks in the aggregate amount of $8,577,000 that were secured by a security interest in its
accounts receivable, equipment and related collateral. In addition, as of December 31, 2014, Legacy Dawson had obligations of $10,227,000 with respect to
112 vehicles leased under capital leases with Enterprise Fleet Management. Any decline in our operations could inhibit our ability to make these substantial
monthly payments. In view of the short terms of these notes, a failure to make the monthly payments on these notes could cause our lenders to foreclose
quickly on the assets securing these notes. The foreclosure on certain of our core assets securing these notes could severely limit our ability to continue
operations.
Our results of operations could be adversely affected by asset impairments.
We periodically review our portfolio of equipment and our intangible assets for impairment. In connection with the Merger, we expect to record
intangibles associated with the combination of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson that we anticipate will be a significant asset on our consolidated balance
sheet. Future events, including our financial performance, sustained decreases in oil and natural gas prices, reduced demand for our services, our market
valuation or the market valuation of comparable companies, loss of a significant client’s business, failure to realize the benefits of the Merger, or strategic
decisions, could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that the asset values associated with our equipment or our intangibles, if any, must
be impaired. If we are forced to impair our equipment or intangibles these noncash asset impairments could negatively affect our results of operations in a
material manner in the period in which they are recorded, and the larger the amount of any impairment that may be taken, the greater the impact such
impairment would have on our results of operations.
We may be subject to liability claims that are not covered by our insurance.
Our business is subject to the general risks inherent in land-based seismic data acquisition activities. Our activities are often conducted in remote
areas under dangerous conditions including the detonation of dynamite. These operations are subject to risks of injury to personnel and damage to
equipment. Our crews are mobile, and equipment and personnel are subject to vehicular accidents. These risks could cause us to experience equipment
losses, injuries to our personnel, and interruptions in our business.
In addition, we could be subject to personal injury or real property damage claims in the normal operation of our business. Such claims may not be
covered under the indemnification provisions contained in our general service agreements to the extent that the damage is due to our negligence or
intentional misconduct.
We do not carry insurance against certain risks that could cause losses, including business interruption resulting from equipment maintenance or
weather delays. See “Item 1. Business — Operating Risks and Insurance”.
Our general service agreements require us to have specific amounts of insurance. There can be no assurance, however, that any insurance obtained by
us will be adequate to cover all losses or liabilities or that this insurance will continue to be available or available on terms which are acceptable to us.
Liabilities for which we are not insured, or which exceed the policy limits of our applicable insurance, could have a materially adverse effect on us.
We may be held liable for the actions of our subcontractors.
We often work as the general contractor on seismic data acquisition surveys and, consequently, engage a number of subcontractors to perform
services and provide products. While we obtain contractual indemnification and insurance covering the acts of these subcontractors and require the
subcontractors to obtain insurance for our benefit, we could be held liable for the actions of these subcontractors. In addition, subcontractors may cause
injury to our personnel or damage to our property that is not fully covered by insurance.
We are subject to the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If we are unable to maintain compliance with Section 404, or if
the costs related to maintaining compliance are significant, our profitability, stock price, and results of operations and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.
If we are unable to maintain adequate internal controls in accordance with Section 404, as such standards are amended, supplemented, or modified
from time to time, we may not be able to ensure that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting on an ongoing basis in accordance with
Section 404. Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls could have a material adverse effect on our stock price. In addition, a material
weakness in the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting could result in an increased chance of fraud and the loss of customers, reduce our
ability to obtain financing, and/or require additional expenditures to comply with these requirements, each of which could negatively impact our business,
profitability, and financial condition.
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Industry Risks
We derive nearly all of our revenues from companies in the oil and natural gas exploration and development industry, a historically cyclical
industry, with levels of activity that are significantly affected by the levels and volatility of oil and natural gas prices.
Demand for our services depends upon the level of expenditures by oil and natural gas companies for exploration, production, development and
field management activities, which depend, in part, on oil and natural gas prices. Significant fluctuations in oil and natural gas exploration activities and oil
and natural gas prices have adversely affected the demand for our services and our results of operations in the past and would continue to do so if the level of
such exploration activities and the prices for oil and natural gas were to decline in the future. In addition to the market prices of oil and natural gas, the
willingness of our clients to explore, develop and produce depends largely upon prevailing industry conditions that are influenced by numerous factors over
which our management has no control, including general economic conditions and the availability of credit. Any prolonged reduction in the overall level of
exploration and development activities, whether resulting from changes in oil and natural gas prices or otherwise, could adversely impact us in many ways by
negatively affecting:
·

our revenues, cash flows, and profitability;

·

our ability to maintain or increase our borrowing capacity;

·

our ability to obtain additional capital to finance our business and the cost of that capital; and

·

our ability to attract and retain skilled personnel whom we would need in the event of an upturn in the demand for our services.

Worldwide political, economic, and military events have contributed to oil and natural gas price volatility and are likely to continue to do so in the
future. Depending on the market prices of oil and natural gas, oil and natural gas exploration and development companies may cancel or curtail their capital
expenditure and drilling programs, thereby reducing demand for our services. Oil and natural gas prices have been highly volatile historically and, we
believe, will continue to be so in the future. Many factors beyond our control affect oil and natural gas prices including:
·

the cost of exploring for, producing, and delivering oil and natural gas;

·

the discovery rate of new oil and natural gas reserves;

·

the rate of decline of existing and new oil and natural gas reserves;

·

available pipeline and other oil and natural gas transportation capacity;

·

the ability of oil and natural gas companies to raise capital and debt financing;

·

actions by OPEC (the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries);

·

political instability in the Middle East and other major oil and natural gas producing regions;

·

economic conditions in the United States and elsewhere;

·

domestic and foreign tax policy;

·

domestic and foreign energy policy including the ever increasing emphasis on alternative sources of energy;

·

weather conditions in the United States and elsewhere;

·

the pace adopted by foreign governments for the exploration, development, and production of their national reserves;
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·

the price of foreign imports of oil and natural gas;

·

the overall supply and demand for oil and natural gas; and

·

an economic downturn could adversely affect our revenues and cash flows if our customers and/or potential customers, become unable to pay, or
must delay payment of, amounts owing to the Company because such customers are not successful in generating revenues or are precluded from
securing necessary financing.
The high fixed costs of our operations could result in operating losses.

Companies within our industry are typically subject to high fixed costs which consist primarily of depreciation (a non-cash item) and maintenance
expenses associated with seismic data acquisition and equipment and crew costs. In addition, ongoing maintenance capital expenditures, as well as new
equipment investment, can be significant. As a result, any extended periods of significant downtime or low productivity caused by reduced demand, weather
interruptions, equipment failures, permit delays, or other causes could result in operating losses.
We and our customers may be adversely affected by an economic downturn.
An economic downturn could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and proposed plan of operations and could lead to further
significant fluctuations in the demand for and pricing of oil and gas. Reduced demand and pricing pressures could adversely affect the financial condition
and results of operations of our customers and their ability to purchase our services. We are not able to predict the timing, extent, and duration of the
economic cycles in the markets in which we operate.
Our operations are subject to delays related to obtaining land access rights of way from third parties which could affect our results of
operations.
Our seismic data acquisition operations could be adversely affected by our inability to obtain timely right of way usage from both public and private
land and/or mineral owners. We cannot begin surveys on property without obtaining permits from governmental entities as well as the permission of the
private landowners who own the land being surveyed. In recent years, it has become more difficult, costly and time-consuming to obtain access rights of way
as drilling activities have expanded into more populated areas. Additionally, while landowners generally are cooperative in granting access rights, some have
become more resistant to seismic and drilling activities occurring on their property. In addition, governmental entities do not always grant permits within the
time periods expected. Delays associated with obtaining such rights of way could negatively affect our results of operations.
Our business is subject to government regulation that may adversely affect our future operations.
Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state, and provincial and local laws and regulations, including laws and regulations relating to the
protection of the environment and archeological sites and those that may result from climate change legislation. Canadian operations have been historically
cyclical due to governmental restrictions on seismic acquisition during certain periods. As a result, there is a risk that there will be a significant amount of
unused equipment during those periods. We are required to expend financial and managerial resources to comply with such laws and related permit
requirements in our operations, and we anticipate that we will continue to be required to do so in the future. Although such expenditures historically have not
been material to us, the fact that such laws or regulations change frequently makes it impossible for us to predict the cost or impact of such laws and
regulations on our future operations. The adoption of laws and regulations that have the effect of reducing or curtailing exploration and development
activities by energy companies could also adversely affect our operations by reducing the demand for our services.
Current and future legislation or regulation relating to climate change or hydraulic fracturing could negatively affect the exploration and
production of oil and gas and adversely affect demand for our services.
In response to concerns suggesting that emissions of certain gases, commonly referred to as “greenhouse gases” (GHG) (including carbon dioxide
and methane) may be contributing to global climate change, legislative and regulatory measures to address the concerns are in various phases of discussion
or implementation at the national and state levels. At least one-half of the states, either individually or through multi-state regional initiatives, have already
taken legal measures intended to reduce GHG emissions, primarily through the planned development of GHG emission inventories and/or GHG cap and trade
programs. Although various climate change legislative measures have been under consideration by the U.S. Congress, it is not possible at this time to predict
whether or when Congress may act on climate change legislation. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) has promulgated a series of
rulemakings and taken other actions that the EPA states will result in the regulation of GHG as “air pollutants” under the existing federal Clean Air Act.
Furthermore, in 2010, EPA regulations became effective that require monitoring and reporting of GHG emissions on an annual basis, including extensive
GHG monitoring and reporting requirements. While this new rule does not control GHG emission levels from any facilities, it will cause covered facilities to
incur monitoring and reporting costs. Moreover, lawsuits have been filed seeking to require individual companies to reduce GHG emissions from their
operations. These and other lawsuits relating to GHG emissions may result in decisions by state and federal courts and agencies that could impact our
operations.
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This increasing governmental focus on global warming may result in new environmental laws or regulations that may negatively affect us, our
suppliers and our clients. This could cause us to incur additional direct costs in complying with any new environmental regulations, as well as increased
indirect costs resulting from our clients, suppliers or both incurring additional compliance costs that get passed on to us. Moreover, passage of climate
change legislation or other federal or state legislative or regulatory initiatives that regulate or restrict emissions of GHG may curtail production and demand
for fossil fuels such as oil and gas in areas where our clients operate and thus adversely affect future demand for our services. Reductions in our revenues or
increases in our expenses as a result of climate control initiatives could have adverse effects on our business, financial position, results of operations and
prospects.
Hydraulic fracturing is an important and commonly used process in the completion of oil and gas wells. Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection
of water, sand and chemical additives under pressure into rock formations to stimulate gas production. Due to public concerns raised regarding potential
impacts of hydraulic fracturing on groundwater quality, legislative and regulatory efforts at the federal level and in some states have been initiated to require
or make more stringent the permitting and compliance requirements for hydraulic fracturing operations. At the federal level, a bill was introduced in Congress
in March 2011 entitled, the “Fracturing Responsibility and Awareness of Chemicals Act,” or the “FRAC Act,” that would amend the federal Safe Drinking
Water Act, or the “SDWA,” to repeal an exemption from regulation for hydraulic fracturing. If the FRAC Act or similar legislation in the next Congress were
enacted, the definition of “underground injection” in the SDWA would be amended to encompass hydraulic fracturing activities. Such a provision could
require hydraulic fracturing operations to meet permitting and financial assurance requirements, adhere to certain construction specifications, fulfill
monitoring, reporting, and recordkeeping obligations and meet plugging and abandonment requirements. The FRAC Act also proposes to require the
reporting and public disclosure of chemicals used in the fracturing process, which could make it easier for third parties opposing the hydraulic fracturing
process to initiate legal proceedings based on allegations that specific chemicals used in the fracturing process could adversely affect groundwater. In early
2010, the EPA indicated in a website posting that it intended to regulate hydraulic fracturing under the SDWA and require permitting for any well where
hydraulic fracturing was conducted with the use of diesel as an additive. While industry groups have challenged the EPA’s website posting as improper
rulemaking, the Agency’s position, if upheld, could require additional permitting. In addition, the EPA has commenced a study of the potential adverse
effects that hydraulic fracturing may have on water quality and public health, and a committee of the U.S. House of Representatives has commenced its own
investigation into hydraulic fracturing practices. These legislative and regulatory initiatives imposing additional reporting obligations on, or otherwise
limiting, the hydraulic fracturing process could make it more difficult or costly to complete natural gas wells. Shale gas cannot be economically produced
without extensive fracturing. In the event such legislation is enacted, demand for our seismic acquisition services may be adversely affected.
Risks Related To Our Common Stock
Our common stock has experienced, and may continue to experience, price volatility and low trading volume.
Our stock price is subject to significant volatility. Overall market conditions, including a decline in oil and natural gas prices and other risks and
uncertainties described in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this Form 10-K, could cause the market price of our common stock to fall. The high
and low sales prices of our common stock for the year ended December 31, 2014, were $22.35 and $5.79, respectively, as adjusted for our 1-for-3 Reverse
Stock Split on February 11, 2015.
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “DWSN.” However, daily trading volumes for our common stock
are, and may continue to be, relatively small compared to many other publicly traded securities. For example, during 2014 our daily trading volume was as
low as 2,266 shares, as adjusted for our 1-for-3 Reverse Stock Split on February 11, 2015. It may be difficult for you to sell your shares in the public market at
any given time at prevailing prices, and the price of our common stock may, therefore, be volatile.
Certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of formation may make it difficult for a third party to acquire us in the future or
may adversely impact your ability to obtain a premium in connection with a future change of control transaction.
Our amended restated certificate of formation, as amended, contains provisions that require the approval of holders of 80% of our issued and
outstanding shares before we may merge or consolidate with or into another corporation or entity or sell all or substantially all of our assets to another
corporation or entity. Additionally, if we increase the size of our board from the current eight directors to nine directors, we could by resolution of the board
of directors stagger the directors’ terms, and our directors could not be removed without approval of holders of 80% of our issued and outstanding shares.
These provisions could discourage or impede a tender offer, proxy contest or other similar transaction involving control of us.
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In addition, our board of directors has the right to issue preferred stock upon such terms and conditions as it deems to be in our best interest. The
terms of such preferred stock may adversely impact the dividend and liquidation rights of our common shareholders without the approval of our common
shareholders.
If the price of our common stock falls below $5.00 per share, it may be considered a low-priced stock and may be subject to regulations that
limit or restrict the potential market for the stock.
Our common stock may be considered a low priced stock pursuant to rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), if it falls below a price of $5.00 per share. Under these rules, broker-dealers participating in transactions in low priced securities must first
deliver a risk disclosure document which describes the risks associated with such stock, the broker-dealer’s duties, the customer’s rights and remedies, and
certain market and other information, and make a suitability determination approving the customer for low priced stock transactions based on the customer’s
financial situation, investment experience and objectives. Broker-dealers must also disclose these restrictions in writing and provide monthly account
statements to the customer, and obtain specific written consent of the customer. With these restrictions, the likely effect of designation as a low price stock
would be to decrease the willingness of broker-dealers to make a market for our common stock, to decrease the liquidity of the stock and to increase the
transaction costs of sales and purchase of such stocks compared to other securities. As of March 9, 2015, our common stock was quoted at a closing sales
price of $5.04 per share and we cannot guarantee that our common stock will continue to trade at a price greater than $5.00 per share.
We paid our first cash dividend in 2012 but did not pay a cash dividend in 2013 or 2014 and may not pay cash dividends on our common stock
in the foreseeable future, and therefore only appreciation of the price of our common stock may provide a return to shareholders.
We paid our first cash dividend in December 2012 but did not pay a cash dividend in 2013 or 2014 and may not pay cash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. While there are currently no restrictions prohibiting us from paying dividends to our shareholders, it is at the discretion of the
board of directors whether we pay any cash dividends on our common stock and depends on our financial condition, results of operations, capital and legal
requirements and other factors deemed relevant by the board of directors. On May 14, 2013 and May 14, 2012, we paid 5% stock dividends to our
shareholders. No cash or stock dividends were declared or paid in 2014.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None
ITEM 2. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY.
Our Houston sales office is in a 1,711-square foot facility. The monthly rent is currently $3,707. Our corporate office in Plano, Texas was increased
from 8,523 square feet to 10,137 square feet of office space in March of 2012. The monthly rent is currently $15,628. We leased an 800-square foot facility
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, as a sales office on a month-to-month basis, and the monthly rent was $665. This office was closed on October 31, 2013. In
October of 2014, we leased a 1,094 foot facility in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, as a sales office and the monthly rent is $1,550. We lease a 400-square foot
facility in Pratt, Kansas, as a permit office on a month-to-month basis, and the current monthly rent is $500. In October 2012, we expanded our Denison,
Texas repair warehouse facility with the addition of a third 10,000-square foot building. The Denison, Texas, facility consists of one 5,000-square foot
building, three 10,000-square foot adjacent buildings, and an outdoor storage area of approximately 60,500 square feet. The monthly rent is currently
$14,438. We lease a 915-square foot office facility in Midland, Texas, as a sales office with a monthly rent of $1,373. We lease 3,030 square feet of office
space located in Calgary, Alberta. The monthly rent is currently $11,147. In addition, Eagle Canada leases a 7,423-square foot facility, also located in
Calgary, Alberta, that is used as a shop and warehouse. The monthly rent is currently $8,681. We also lease a storage and parking area near the Eagle Canada
shop and warehouse. The monthly rent is currently $4,386. The Company is not responsible for insuring these facilities. The conditions of these facilities are
good, and we believe that these properties are suitable and adequate for our foreseeable needs.
In connection with the Merger, effective February 11, 2015, we transitioned our principal executive office to Legacy Dawson’s headquarters, a
34,570 square foot leased property in Midland, Texas, which we acquired in the Merger. The monthly rent is currently $40,332. We also acquired a 61,402
square foot property in Midland, Texas that we own that is used as a field office, equipment and fabrication facility and maintenance and repair shop. We are
in the process of consolidating a number of our sales offices.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
On December 22, 2014, Legacy Dawson received a letter dated December 18, 2014 from legal counsel for a purported shareholder of Legacy Dawson
demanding that the Legacy Dawson board of directors prior to the Merger (the “Legacy Dawson Board”) take appropriate legal action against the members of
the Legacy Dawson Board. The letter alleges conflicts of interest on the part of certain officers and directors of Legacy Dawson in connection with the
Merger, Legacy Dawson disclosure deficiencies with respect to the Merger and the negotiations leading to the merger agreement and breaches of fiduciary
duties by such persons in connection with such matters. The letter also demanded that Legacy Dawson make various corrective disclosures concerning the
Merger.
On January 7, 2015, Andrew Speese, through his attorney, filed a purported shareholder class action and derivative suit on behalf of himself and
Legacy Dawson’s other shareholders in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas (Midland/Odessa Division), against the Company,
Legacy Dawson, the members of the Legacy Dawson Board and Merger Sub. The lawsuit alleges, among other things, that the Legacy Dawson Board
breached their fiduciary duties to the Legacy Dawson shareholders in connection with the strategic business combination with us, and that our registration
statement dated November 6, 2014, as subsequently amended, and our prospectus filed on December 31, 2014, contain material omissions and materially
misleading statements. The complaint sought to enjoin the Company, Legacy Dawson and Merger Sub from taking any actions that would allow the
consummation of the strategic business combination contemplated by the Merger Agreement, or, now that the strategic business combination is
consummated, a judgment for damages.
In addition, on January 8, 2015, Legacy Dawson received a letter dated January 7, 2015 from legal counsel for Andrew Speese with respect to the
lawsuit described above demanding that the Legacy Dawson Board take legal action to remedy alleged breaches of fiduciary duties in connection with the
strategic business combination and to recover damages caused by such alleged breaches.
The Legacy Dawson Board formed a Special Litigation Committee, which committee is authorized to retain independent legal counsel, to
investigate the claims in the demand letters described above and to determine whether any of the derivative claims should be pursued. That committee is
continuing to function following the consummation of the Merger.
We have filed a motion to dismiss the class action claims and we intend to vigorously defend against each of the actions described above.
The Company is a defendant in various other legal actions that arose or may arise out of the normal course of business. In our opinion, none of these
actions has or will result in any significant loss to us.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
None.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.
Market Prices
On April 18, 2005, we began trading on the NYSE Amex (formerly the American Stock Exchange) (“AMEX”) under the trading symbol “TGE,” and
on November 6, 2007, our stock began trading on NASDAQ under the symbol “TGE.” As a result of the Merger, our common stock ceased to trade under the
symbol “TGE” at the close of market on February 11, 2015. On February 12, 2015, our stock began trading on a combined company basis under the symbol
“DWSN.”
The following table shows the high and low sales prices reported for our common stock on NASDAQ during 2014 and 2013, as adjusted for the 1for-3 Reverse Stock Split effected February 11, 2015. On December 27, 2012, the Company paid its first cash dividend of $0.45 per common share to
shareholders of record at the close of business on December 17, 2012. The Company did not pay a cash dividend in 2013 or 2014. On May 14, 2013 and on
May 14, 2012 the Company paid 5% stock dividends to shareholders of record at the close of business on April 30, 2013 and April 30, 2012, respectively.
No cash or stock dividends were declared or paid in 2014. All prior share and per share amounts have been restated to reflect the stock dividends.
2014

2013

High

1 st quarter
2 nd quarter
3 rd quarter
4 th quarter

$

22.35
18.36
17.28
11.76

Low

$

16.98
12.72
11.07
5.79

High

$

31.29
29.88
30.03
24.90

Low

$

24.15
23.16
22.50
18.93

The number of shareholders of record of our common stock as of March 6, 2015 was approximately 273. Due to the number of shares held in
nominee or street name, we believe that there are a significantly greater number of beneficial owners of our common stock. On March 9, 2015 our common
stock was quoted at a closing sales price of $5.04.
Performance Graph
The following graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not to be incorporated
by reference into any of the Company’s filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
respectively.
The following graph sets forth the five-year cumulative total shareholder return, which assumes reinvestment of dividends, of a $100 investment
beginning in our common stock, a peer group made up of companies in the Philadelphia Oil Service Sector Index, and the S&P 500 Stock Index. The
Philadelphia Oil Service Sector Index consists of far larger companies that provide a variety of services as compared to the land-based geophysical services
provided by the Company.
Indexed Total Return
12/31/2009 — 12/31/2014
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” and the Company’s financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” A
cash dividend of $0.45 per common share was declared and paid in December 2012. No cash dividends were declared in any of the remaining four years
shown below:
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
2011
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2014

2010

Statement of Income Data:
Revenues

$

118,848

$

Net income (loss)

$

(9,528)

$

Net Income (loss) per common share - basic

$

(1.30)

Net Income (loss) per common share - diluted

$

(1.30)

134,535

$

196,317

$

151,029

$

108,319

(6,316)

$

15,672

$

10,833

$

(1,223)

$

(0.87)

$

2.19

$

1.53

$

(0.18)

$

(0.87)

$

2.15

$

1.51

$

(0.18)

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding - basic

7,322

7,281

7,171

7,072

7,056

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding - diluted

7,322

7,281

7,299

7,183

7,056

Total assets

$

85,122

$

98,302

$

142,028

$

99,881

$

87,615

Long-term debt, less current maturities

$

5,642

$

7,385

$

16,298

$

6,956

$

6,021

Shareholders’ equity

$

57,062

$

69,131

$

77,986

$

63,720

$

52,863

Cash dividends declared per common share

$

—

$

—

$

0.45

$

—

$

—
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. Portions of this document that are not statements of historical or current fact are forward-looking statements that involve risk and
uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions. The cautionary statements made in this Form 10-K should be read as
applying to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this Form 10-K. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated include those
discussed in “Business,” “Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” and “Risk Factors.”
Material Transaction
On February 11, 2015, Dawson Geophysical Company, which was formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc. (“Legacy TGC” or the “Company”),
completed its previously announced strategic business combination with Dawson Operating Company, which was formerly known as Dawson Geophysical
Company (“Legacy Dawson”), pursuant to which Riptide Acquisition Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Legacy TGC, merged with and into Legacy
Dawson, with Legacy Dawson continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Legacy TGC (the “Merger”). As a result
of the Merger, the former shareholders of Legacy Dawson received shares of Legacy TGC common stock representing approximately 66% of the outstanding
common shares of the post-merger combined company, and Legacy TGC’s shareholders retained approximately 34% of the outstanding common shares of
the post-merger combined company. In connection with the Merger, Legacy Dawson changed its name to “Dawson Operating Company” and Legacy TGC
changed its name to “Dawson Geophysical Company.”
This Item 7 discusses the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, excluding
Legacy Dawson except as otherwise specifically noted herein. Where appropriate, however, management has included a discussion regarding how it believes
the Merger may impact various aspects of the combined company’s future financial condition and/or results of operations. Unless the context indicates
otherwise, all references in this Item 7 to “Legacy TGC,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to the Company and its subsidiaries other than Legacy
Dawson and its subsidiaries.
Executive Overview
We are a leading provider of seismic data acquisition services throughout the continental United States and Canada. We supply seismic data to
companies engaged in the exploration and development of oil and natural gas on land and in land-to-water transition areas. Our customers rely on seismic
data to identify areas where subsurface conditions are favorable for the accumulation of existing hydrocarbons, to optimize the development and production
of hydrocarbon reservoirs, to better delineate existing oil and natural gas fields, and to augment reservoir management techniques.
We acquire geophysical data using the latest in 3-D survey techniques. We introduce acoustic energy into the ground by using vibration equipment
or dynamite detonation, depending on the surface terrain and subsurface requirements. The reflected energy, or echoes, is received through geophones,
converted into a digital signal at a multi-channel recording unit, and then transmitted to a central recording vehicle. Subsurface requirements dictate the
number of channels necessary to perform our services. With our state-of-the-art seismic equipment, including computer technology and multiple channels, we
acquire, on a cost-effective basis, immense volumes of seismic data that when processed and interpreted produce more precise images of the earth’s
subsurface. Our customers then use our seismic data to generate 3-D geologic models that help reduce finding costs and improve recovery rates from existing
wells.
Currently, the seismic data acquisition industry is made up of a number of companies divided into two groups. The first group is made up of three
publicly-traded companies with long operating histories that field numerous crews and work in a number of different regions and terrain. This group includes
us, SAExploration Holdings, Inc., or SAE, and CGG (which recently sold its North American onshore seismic contract acquisition business to
Geokinetics, Inc., or Geokinetics). The second group is made up of Geokinetics, Global Geophysical Services, Inc., or Global Geophysical, Tesla
Exploration, Ltd., or Tesla, Breckenridge Geophysical Inc., or Breckenridge, Paragon Geophysical Services, Inc., or Paragon, LoneStar Geophysical Surveys,
or LoneStar, and smaller companies which generally run one or two seismic crews and often specialize in specific regions or types of operations.
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We provide our seismic data acquisition services primarily to onshore oil and natural gas exploration and development companies for use in the
onshore drilling and production of oil and natural gas in the continental United States and Canada. The main factors influencing demand for seismic data
acquisition services in our industry are the level of drilling activity by oil and natural gas companies and the sizes of such companies’ exploration and
development budgets, which, in turn, depend largely on current and anticipated future crude oil and natural gas prices and depletion rates.
Our customers are major and independent oil and natural gas exploration and development companies. The services we provide to our customers
vary according to the size and needs of each customer. Our services are marketed by supervisory and executive personnel who contact customers to determine
their needs and respond to customer inquiries regarding the availability of crews. Contacts are based principally upon professional relationships developed
over a number of years.
The acquisition of seismic data for the oil and natural gas industry is a highly competitive business. Contracts for such services generally are
awarded on the basis of price quotations, crew experience, and the availability of crews to perform in a timely manner, although factors other than price, such
as crew safety, performance history, and technological and operational expertise, are often determinative. Our competition includes publicly traded
competitors, such as CGG (which recently sold its North American onshore seismic contract acquisition business to Geokinetics) and SAE. Our other major
competitors include Geokinetics, Global Geophysical, Tesla, Breckenridge, Paragon and LoneStar. In addition to these previously named companies, we also
compete for projects from time to time with smaller seismic companies which operate in local markets with only one or two crews.
Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2014, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013
Revenues. Our revenues were $118,847,754 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $134,534,540 for the same period of 2013, a
decrease of 11.7%. This decrease was primarily due to the softening in the seismic market that began in early 2013, our operation of fewer crews in the United
States and Canada during the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 compared to the same period of 2013, and the adverse winter weather conditions in
parts of the United States and Canada during the first quarter of 2014. We operated four crews in the United States during the first and second quarters of
2014, added one crew during the third quarter ended September 30, 2014, and idled two crews during the fourth quarter, ending the quarter with three crews
in the United States for the quarter ended December 31, 2014. In Canada, we operated six crews for most of this year’s first quarter and ended the first quarter
with four crews. By late-April, all Canadian crews had been shut down following the end of the winter season. We added one crew in Canada in the
beginning of June for summer work, but that crew worked intermittently during the third quarter. During the fourth quarter we added crews in Canada for the
winter season, ending the quarter with five crews. This compares with our operation of nine crews in the United States and six crews in Canada during the
first quarter of 2013. We began the second quarter of 2013 with eight crews operating in the United States and ended the quarter with two crews, and began
the third quarter of 2013 with three crews operating in the United States and ended the quarter with five crews. In Canada, we began the second quarter of
2013 operating six crews and ended the quarter operating two crews. In the third quarter of 2013, we operated three crews in Canada for short term work at
the beginning of the quarter but had no crews operating in Canada by the end of the quarter. We started and ended the fourth quarter of 2013 operating three
crews in Canada.
Cost of services. Our cost of services was $101,582,377 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $107,675,356 for the same period of
2013, a decrease of 5.7%. As a percentage of revenues, cost of services was 85.5% for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to 80.0% for the same
period of 2013. This decrease in cost of services was primarily attributable to our operation of fewer crews in the United States and Canada as discussed
above. The decrease was partially offset by costs incurred due to adverse winter weather conditions in parts of the United States and Canada during the first
quarter of this year and an increase in shot-hole work, which carries higher costs and lower margins than vibroseis work, in the United States during the third
quarter.
Selling, general, and administrative expenses. SG&A expenses were $11,660,137 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $9,593,068
for the same period of 2013, an increase of 21.5%. This increase was primarily attributable to transaction costs of $1,760,919 incurred with respect to the
Merger. SG&A expense as a percentage of revenues was 9.8% for the year ended December 31, 2014, and 7.1% for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense was $19,152,286 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared
to $24,644,190 for the same period of 2013, a decrease of 22.3%. This decrease was primarily attributable to our maintenance capital expenditures policy
adopted early in the first quarter of 2013. Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of revenues was 16.1% for the year ended December 31,
2014, compared to 18.3% for the same period of 2013.
Loss from operations. Loss from operations was $13,547,046 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to loss from operations of
$7,378,074 for the year ended December 31, 2013. This loss increase was primarily attributable to a decrease in revenues from fielding fewer crews in the
United States and Canada and an increase, as a percentage of revenues, in cost of services and SG&A expenses. EBITDA decreased $11,660,876 to
$5,605,240 for the year ended December 31, 2014, from $17,266,116 for the same period of 2013, a decrease of 67.5%. This decrease was a result of the
factors discussed above. For a definition of EBITDA, a reconciliation of EBITDA to net loss and a discussion of EBITDA, please refer to the section entitled
“EBITDA” found below.
Interest expense. Interest expense was $677,718 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $1,091,476 for the same period of 2013, a
decrease of 37.9%. This decrease was primarily attributable to our pay off of three notes payable for purchases of seismic acquisition equipment during 2013
and 2014.
Income tax benefit. Income tax benefit was $4,696,434 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $2,153,509 for the same period of 2013.
The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2014, at a rate of 33.0%, and the income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2013 were due
primarily to our losses before income taxes. See Note H of Notes to Financial Statements.
Year Ended December 31, 2013, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012
Revenues. Our revenues were $134,534,540 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $196,317,215 for the same period of 2012, a
decrease of 31.5%. Revenues for the 12 months ended December 31, 2013 decreased due to the softening in the seismic market that began early in 2013, our
operation of fewer crews in the U.S. and Canada during the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2013 as compared to the same period of 2012, and severe
weather conditions in many or our key markets in the U.S. and Canada during the fourth quarter of 2013. In 2013 in the U.S., we operated nine crews in the
first quarter, began the second quarter operating nine crews and ended the second quarter operating two crews. We started the third quarter with three crews
and ended the quarter operating five crews which we continued operating during the fourth quarter of 2013. In Canada, we operated six crews in the first
quarter of 2013, began the second quarter operating six crews, and ended the quarter operating two crews. We operated no crews in Canada during the third
quarter of 2013 and started and ended the fourth quarter operating three crews. This compares to 2012 when we operated eight seismic crews in the U.S.
during the first and second quarters, added a ninth crew in the third quarter, and continued operating nine crews during the fourth quarter of 2012. We
operated seven seismic crews in Canada during the first quarter, two crews during the second quarter, the equivalent of 1.5 crews during the third quarter, and
five crews during the fourth quarter of 2012.
Cost of services. Our cost of services was $107,675,356 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $135,279,937 for the same period of
2012, a decrease of 20.4%. This decrease is attributable to operating fewer crews. When a crew is shut down, several key crew members continue as paid
employees of the Company (to retain their skill sets), and the majority of the crew is laid off without pay. As a percentage of revenues, cost of services was
80.0% for the year ended December 31, 2013, and 68.9% for the year ended December 31, 2012. This increase was primarily attributable to costs we incurred
as we idled several crews in the U.S. in the second and third quarters due to the softening in the seismic market, adverse weather conditions in the U.S. and
Canada, an increase in higher cost shot-hole work, and land permitting issues in Canada in the fourth quarter of 2013.
Selling, general, and administrative expenses. SG&A expenses were $9,593,068 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $8,755,270 for
the same period of 2012, an increase of 9.6%. This increase was primarily attributable to personnel additions and an increase in share-based compensation
expense. SG&A expense as a percentage of revenues was 7.1% for the year ended December 31, 2013, and 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2012,
reflecting the decrease in revenues in 2013.
Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense was $24,644,190 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared
to $25,502,597 for the same period of 2012, a decrease of 3.4%. This decrease was primarily attributable to our maintenance capital expenditures policy
adopted early in the first quarter of 2013. Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of revenues was 18.3% for the year ended December 31,
2013, compared to 13.0% for the same period of 2012 reflecting the decline in revenues in 2013.
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Income (loss) from operations. Loss from operations was $7,378,074 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to income from operations of
$26,779,411 for the year ended December 31, 2012. The decrease was attributable to idling of several crews in the U.S. in the second and third quarters of
2013 due to the softening in the seismic market, adverse weather conditions in the U.S. and Canada, an increase in shot-hole work which carries higher costs
and lower margins than vibroseis work and land permitting issues in Canada in the fourth quarter of 2013.
EBITDA decreased $35,015,892 to $17,266,116 for the 12 months ended December 31, 2013, from $52,282,008 for the same period of 2012, a
decrease of 67.0%. This decrease was primarily a result of our net loss of $6,316,041 for 2013 compared to net income of $15,671,879 for the same period in
2012, and related decrease in income tax expense. For a definition of EBITDA, a reconciliation of EBITDA to net income, and a discussion of EBITDA, refer
to the section entitled “EBITDA” found below.
Interest expense. Interest expense was $1,091,476 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $1,222,454 for the same period of 2012, a
decrease of 10.7%. This decrease was primarily attributable to our pay off in 2013 of three notes payable incurred for the purchase of seismic equipment.
Income tax (benefit) expense. Income tax benefit was $2,153,509 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to income tax expense of
$9,885,078 for the same period of 2012. This decrease was attributable to the net loss in 2013 as compared to net income in 2012. Income tax benefit for the
year ended December 31, 2013 reflects the impact of state taxes, net of federal benefit, and permanent tax differences, including share based compensation.
See Note H of Notes to Financial Statements.
EBITDA
EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as net income (loss) plus interest expense, income tax expense (benefit), and depreciation
and amortization expense. We use EBITDA as a supplemental financial measure to assess:
·

the financial performance of our assets without regard to financing methods, capital structures, taxes, or historical cost basis;

·

our liquidity and operating performance over time and in relation to other companies that own similar assets and that we believe calculate EBITDA
in a manner similar to us; and

·

the ability of our assets to generate cash sufficient for us to pay potential interest expenses.

We also understand that such data is used by investors to assess our performance. However, EBITDA is not a measure of operating income, operating
performance, or liquidity presented in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). When assessing our operating performance
or our liquidity, you should not consider this data in isolation or as a substitute for our net income, cash flow from operating activities, or other cash flow data
calculated in accordance with GAAP. EBITDA excludes some, but not all, items that affect net income and operating income, and these measures may vary
among other companies. Therefore, EBITDA as presented below may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Further, the results
presented by EBITDA cannot be achieved without incurring the costs that the measure excludes: interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization.
The following table reconciles our EBITDA to our net income (loss):
Year Ended
December 31,
2013

2014

Net income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Interest expense
Income tax expense (benefit)
EBITDA

$

$
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(9,528,330)
19,152,286
677,718
(4,696,434)
5,605,240

$

$

(6,316,041)
24,644,190
1,091,476
(2,153,509)
17,266,116

2012

$

$

15,671,879
25,502,597
1,222,454
9,885,078
52,282,008

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
Cash flows from operating activities.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $9,255,375 for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $22,969,342 for the same period of
2013. The $13,713,967 decrease was principally attributable to a higher net loss, decreases in depreciation expense and prepaid federal and state income
taxes, which were partially offset by increases in trade accounts receivable, trade accounts payable, and billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts.
Working capital decreased $5,226,142 to $12,482,021 as of December 31, 2014, from the December 31, 2013 working capital of $17,708,163. This
decrease was primarily due to decreases of $4,767,223 in cash, $3,909,198 in prepaid federal and state income taxes, increases of $3,666,450 in trade
accounts payable and $3,797,882 in billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts, partially offset by a $8,828,351 increase in
trade accounts receivable and a $1,137,929 decrease in current maturities of notes payable.
Cash flows used in investing activities.
Net cash used in investing activities was $963,976 for the year ended December 31, 2014, and $667,498 for the year ended December 31, 2013.
This $296,478 increase was due to a decrease in proceeds from the sale of property and equipment of $765,761 partially offset by a decrease in capital
expenditures of $469,283.
Cash flows used in financing activities.
Net cash used in financing activities was $13,039,683 for the year ended December 31, 2014, and $14,996,672 for the year ended December 31,
2013. The $1,956,989 decrease was due primarily to a decrease in principal payments on notes payable of $1,684,600 and $533,286 in principal payments
on capital lease obligations.
Capital expenditures.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we acquired $7,954,973 of vehicles and equipment including the purchase in September 2014 of a
10,500-channel INOVA Hawk seismic data acquisition system and replacing and purchasing additional vehicles and equipment. We financed these
acquisitions by using a $6,096,173 note payable to a commercial bank to finance the INOVA Hawk system disclosed above, $1,379,395 of cash on hand and
by incurring $479,405 in capital lease obligations from a vehicle leasing company. We do not budget for our capital expenditures. Early during the year
ended December 31, 2013 we adopted a maintenance capital expenditures program and incurred capital expenditures of $2,474,865, primarily to maintain
existing equipment. During the year ended December 31, 2012, capital expenditures of $57,107,732 were used to acquire seismic equipment and vehicles,
replace similar equipment and vehicles, and to purchase our fourth and fifth GSR systems consisting of a total of 14,200 channels and related equipment, our
sixth GSR system with 13,000 channels, our first next-generation 3-channel GSX system with 8,000 stations, and seven new INOVA vibration vehicles. Cash
of $31,970,418, notes of $22,201,800 from a commercial bank, and capital lease obligations from a vehicle leasing company of $2,935,514 were used to
finance these acquisitions. This major investment has allowed us to benefit from new technology while primarily remaining in a maintenance capital
expenditures policy since 2013.
Capital Resources
Historically, we have relied on cash generated from operations, short-term borrowings from commercial banks and equipment lenders, and loans from
directors to fund our working capital requirements and capital expenditures.
The Company has a revolving line of credit agreement with a commercial bank. The borrowing limit under the revolving line of credit agreement is
$5,000,000 and was renewed on September 16, 2013, and again on September 16, 2014. The revolving line of credit agreement expires on September 16,
2015. Our obligations under this agreement are secured by a security interest in our accounts receivable. Interest on the outstanding amount under the line
of credit loan agreement is payable monthly at the greater of the prime rate of interest or five percent. As of December 31, 2014, and since its inception, we
have had no borrowings outstanding under the line of credit loan agreement.
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At December 31, 2014, the Company had four outstanding notes payable to commercial banks for equipment purchases. The notes have interest
rates between 3.50% and 4.60%, are due in monthly installments between $128,363 and $215,863 plus interest, have a total outstanding balance of
$12,072,454, and are collateralized by equipment. One note payable with an interest rate of 4.50% and monthly payments of $187,934 including interest
was paid off in 2014. Three notes payable with interest rates between 5.00% and 6.35% and monthly payments between $50,170 and $82,950 plus interest
were paid off in 2013. These notes were collateralized by equipment.
At December 31, 2014, Legacy Dawson had three outstanding notes payable to commercial banks for equipment purchases. Legacy Dawson’s
obligations under the notes are secured by a security interest in its accounts receivable, equipment and related collateral. Interest on one of the notes, with a
total outstanding balance of $1,435,000 as of December 31, 2014, accrues at an annual rate equal to either the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate, plus
two and one-quarter percent, or the Prime Rate, minus three-quarters percent, as Legacy Dawson directs monthly, subject to an interest rate floor of 3.75%.
Interest on the other two notes, with a total outstanding balance of $7,142,000 as of December 31, 2014, accrues at an annual fixed rate between 3.16% and
3.84%. In addition, as of December 31, 2014, Legacy Dawson had obligations of $10,227,000 with respect to 112 vehicles leased under capital leases with
Enterprise Fleet Management.
The Company had, at December 31, 2014, two outstanding notes payable to finance companies for corporate insurance. The notes have interest
rates between 4.09% and 4.95%, are due in monthly installments between $14,674 and $326,366 including interest, and have a total outstanding balance of
$449,308.
Our Houston sales office is in a 1,711-square foot facility. The monthly rent is currently $3,707. Our corporate office in Plano, Texas was increased
from 8,523 square feet to 10,137 square feet of office space in March of 2012. The monthly rent is currently $15,628. We leased an 800-square foot facility
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, as a sales office on a month-to-month basis, and the monthly rent was $665. This office was closed on October 31, 2013. In
October of 2014, we leased a 1,094 foot facility in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, as a sales office and the monthly rent is $1,550. We lease a 400-square foot
facility in Pratt, Kansas, as a permit office on a month-to-month basis, and the current monthly rent is $500. In October of 2012, we expanded our Denison,
Texas repair warehouse facility with the addition of a third 10,000-square foot building. The Denison, Texas, facility consists of one 5,000-square foot
building, three 10,000-square foot adjacent buildings, and an outdoor storage area of approximately 60,500 square feet. The monthly rent is currently
$14,438. We lease a 915-square foot office facility in Midland, Texas, as a sales office with a monthly rent of $1,373. We lease 3,030 square feet of office
space located in Calgary, Alberta. The monthly rent is currently $11,147. In addition, Eagle Canada leases a 7,423-square foot facility, also located in
Calgary, Alberta, that is used as a shop and warehouse. The monthly rent is currently $8,681. We also lease a storage and parking area near the Eagle Canada
shop and warehouse. The monthly rent is currently $4,386. The Company is not responsible for insuring these facilities. The conditions of these facilities
are good, and we believe that these properties are suitable and adequate for our foreseeable needs.
In connection with the Merger, effective February 11, 2015, we transitioned our principal executive office to Legacy Dawson’s headquarters, a
34,570 square foot leased property in Midland, Texas, which we acquired in the Merger. The monthly rent is currently $40,332. We also acquired a 61,402
square foot property in Midland, Texas that we own that is used as a field office, equipment and fabrication facility and maintenance and repair shop. We are
in the process of consolidating a number of our sales offices.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes payments due in specific periods related to our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014:
Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations (1)

Operating lease obligations
Debt obligations
Capital lease obligations
Total

(1)

Within
1 Year

Total
(In thousands)

$
$
$
$

2,720
12,522
1,216
16,458

$
$
$
$

1,145
7,297
799
9,241

1-2 Years

$
$
$
$

1,076
3,573
275
4,924

After
5 Years

3-5 Years

$
$
$
$

499
1,652
142
2,293

$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—

The contractual obligations described in the table above are solely those of Legacy TGC as of December 31, 2014. Legacy Dawson also had
outstanding contractual obligations as of such date, certain of which are described elsewhere in this Item 7.
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We believe that our capital resources, including our short-term investments, funds available under our line of credit loan agreement, and cash flow
from operations, are adequate to meet our current operational needs. Although we anticipate that our capital expenditures will increase as a result of the
Merger, we believe that we will be able to finance our 2015 capital expenditures through cash flow from our and Legacy Dawson’s operations, borrowings
from commercial lenders, the funds available under our and Legacy Dawson’s line of credit loan agreement. However, our ability to satisfy working capital
requirements, meet debt repayment obligations, and fund future capital requirements will depend principally upon our future operating performance which is
subject to the risks inherent in our business.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2014, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make certain assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Because of the use of assumptions and estimates inherent in the reporting process, actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition
Seismic Surveys
The Company provides seismic data acquisition survey services to its customers under general service agreements which define certain obligations
for the Company and for its customers. We typically enter into a supplemental agreement setting forth the terms of each project, which may be canceled by
either party upon 30 days’ advance written notice. These supplemental agreements are either “turnkey” agreements providing for a fixed fee to be paid for
each unit of seismic data acquired or “term” agreements providing for a fixed hourly, daily, or monthly fee during the term of the project. Under both types of
agreements, the Company recognizes revenues when services have been performed and revenue is realizable. Services are defined as the commencement of
data acquisition. Revenues are deemed realizable when earned according to the terms of the contracts. Under turnkey agreements, the total number of units
of seismic data to be gathered is set forth in the agreement. Revenue under turnkey agreements is recognized on a per unit of seismic data acquired rate as
services are performed. Revenue under term agreements is recognized on a per unit of time worked rate as services are performed based on the time worked
rate provided in the term agreement. In the event of a canceled contract, revenue is recognized and the client is billed for services performed to the date of
contract cancellation. When it becomes evident that the estimates of total costs to be incurred on a contract will exceed the total estimates of revenue to be
earned, an estimated loss is recognized in the period in which the loss is identifiable. The asset “Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts” represents cost incurred on turnkey agreements in excess of billings on those agreements. The liability “Billings in excess of costs
and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts” represents billings on turnkey agreements in excess of cost on those agreements.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is a measure of income which includes both net income and other comprehensive income or loss. Other comprehensive
income or loss results from items deferred from recognition in the statement of earnings, which consists solely of foreign currency translation adjustments.
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is presented on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as a part of shareholder’s equity. In addition, the
Company reports comprehensive income and its components in a separate statement of comprehensive income.
Foreign currency translation income or loss represents changes in foreign currency rates used to translate the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the Company’s international subsidiary from the local currency. These changes in foreign currency rates may never be realized or may only be
partially realized upon the ultimate disposition, if any, of the international subsidiary. The Company’s foreign investment is considered permanent in nature
as there are no plans in the foreseeable future for divestiture.
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Business Combinations
We allocate the purchase price of acquired companies to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired, based on
their estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over these fair values is recorded as goodwill. We engage independent third-party appraisal firms
to assist us in determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and
assumptions.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We prepare our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on our past experience of historical write-offs, our current customer base, and our
review of past due accounts. The inherent volatility of the energy industry’s business cycle can cause swift and unpredictable changes in the financial
stability of our customers. In 2014, an allowance of $557,867 was deemed necessary. In 2013, and 2012, no allowances were necessary.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
We review long-lived assets for impairment when triggering events occur suggesting deterioration in the assets’ recoverability or fair value.
Recognition of an impairment charge is required if future expected net cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying value of the asset. Our forecast of
future cash flows used to perform impairment analysis includes estimates of future revenues and profitability based on our historical results and analysis of
future oil and natural gas prices which are fundamental to assessing demand for our services. If we are unable to achieve these cash flows, our estimates will
be revised which could result in an impairment charge for the period of revision.
Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant, and Equipment
Our property, plant, and equipment are capitalized at historical cost and depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Our estimate of this useful life is
based on circumstances that exist in the seismic industry and information available at the time of the purchase of the asset. The technology of the equipment
used to gather data in the seismic industry has historically evolved such that obsolescence does not occur quickly. As circumstances change and new
information becomes available, these estimates could change. We amortize these capitalized items using the straight-line method. Capital assets are
depreciated over their useful lives ranging from one to seven years, depending on the classification of the asset.
Tax Accounting
We account for our income taxes in accordance with the recognition of amounts of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and an asset and
liability approach in recognizing the amount of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our
financial statements or tax returns. We determine deferred taxes by identifying the types and amounts of existing temporary differences, measuring the total
deferred tax asset or liability using the applicable tax rate, and reducing the deferred tax asset by a valuation allowance if, based on available evidence, it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Our methodology for recording income taxes requires judgment
regarding assumptions and the use of estimates, including determining our annual effective tax rate and the valuation of deferred tax assets, which can create
a variance between actual results and estimates and could have a material impact on our provision or benefit for income taxes.
Share-Based Compensation
We recognize the fair value of the stock-based compensation awards, including stock options and restricted stock, as wages in the consolidated
statements of earnings on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the related stock options or restricted stock awards. This has resulted in the
recognition of compensation expense, relative to stock-based awards, in wages in the consolidated statements of earnings of approximately $689,000 or
approximately $0.09 per share for the year ended December 31, 2014, and $973,000 or approximately $0.13 per share for the year ended December 31, 2013.
25

Shares of restricted stock were issued to employees of the Company under the 2006 Stock Awards Plan as follows: 6,000 in August of 2007; 3,333
in June of 2008; 1,666 in July of 2009; 1,666 in May of 2010; 8,443 in November of 2011; 7,173 in December of 2011; 2,000 in January of 2012; 71,041 in
August of 2012; 2,000 in February of 2013, and 5,000 shares in January 2014. In June of 2013, 15,000 shares were rescinded from the August 2012 grant,
and 10,000 shares were issued in their place. In addition, stock options were issued to employees of the Company under the 2006 Stock Awards Plan as
follows: 111,666 in October of 2008; 45,000 in November of 2009; 5,000 in November of 2011, and 118,333 in July of 2014. No incentive stock options
were granted to employees in 2010, 2012, or 2013. As of December 31, 2014, there was approximately $353,000 of unrecognized compensation expense
related to our share-based compensation plan.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic
740) - Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists
(“ASU 2013-11”). ASU 2013-11 clarifies the balance sheet presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit and was issued to resolve the diversity in practice
that had developed in the absence any specific U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). ASU 2013-11 is applicable to all entities that
have an unrecognized tax benefit due to a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, of a tax credit carryforward. The ASU is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013, and does not create any new disclosure requirements. The Company adopted
ASU 2013-11 on January 1, 2014, and it did not have a significant effect on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue (Topic 606) - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09
supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP and establishes a comprehensive revenue recognition standard for virtually all
industries, including those that previously followed industry-specific guidance. The revenue standard’s core principle is built on the contract between a
vendor and a customer for the provision of goods and services. It attempts to depict the exchange of rights and obligations between the parties in the pattern
of revenue recognition based on the consideration to which the vendor is entitled. Three basic transition methods are available—full retrospective,
retrospective with certain practical expedients, and a cumulative effect approach. Under the third alternative, an entity would apply the new revenue
standard only to contracts that are incomplete under legacy U.S. GAAP at the date of initial application (i.e., January 1, 2017) and recognize the cumulative
effect of the new standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. That is, prior years would not be restated and additional disclosures
would be required to enable users of the financial statements to understand the impact of adopting the new standard in the current year compared to prior
years that are presented under legacy U.S. GAAP. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods
therein. Early adoption is prohibited. The Company will adopt ASU 2014-09 on January 1, 2017. The Company will begin evaluating the impact of our
pending adoption of ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financial statements and has not yet determined the method by which it will adopt the standard in
2017.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40) (“ASU 2014-15”).
ASU 2014-15 provides guidance on management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern and in certain circumstances to provide related footnote disclosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for the annual period ending after December 15,
2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance, however it does not
expect any impact on its consolidated financial statements.
Effect of Inflation
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition during the past three years.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We have not entered into any hedging agreements or swap agreements. Our principal market risk is the risk related to the concentration of our
customers in the oil and natural gas industry. Since our customers are involved in the oil and natural gas industry, there may be a positive or a negative effect
on our exposure to credit risk in that our customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic and industry conditions. For the year ended
December 31, 2014, our largest two customers accounted for approximately 18% and 11% of revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2013, our largest
customer accounted for approximately 12% of revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2012, our largest customer accounted for approximately 16% of
revenues.
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We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk, primarily through our operations in Canada. Certain transactions in Canada are exposed to
economic losses in the event of adverse changes in the currency exchange rate. If the Canadian Dollar appreciates with respect to the U.S. Dollar, our costs in
Canada may increase. Currently, we do not use derivative financial instruments to offset the risk of foreign currency.
For further information see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Item 1A. Risk
Factors.”
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Shareholders
Dawson Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc.) and Subsidiaries
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dawson Geophysical Company and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Dawson
Geophysical Company and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Dawson Geophysical Company
and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 16, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ LANE GORMAN TRUBITT, PLLC
Dallas, Texas
March 16, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Shareholders
Dawson Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc.) and Subsidiaries
We have audited Dawson Geophysical Company and Subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Dawson Geophysical Company and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of Dawson Geophysical Company and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014 and our report dated March 16,
2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
/s/ LANE GORMAN TRUBITT, PLLC
Dallas, Texas
March 16, 2015
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TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2014

2013

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $557,867 and $0 in each period,
respectively
Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Prepaid expenses and other
Prepaid federal and state income tax

$

Total current assets

11,363,151

$

16,130,374

19,570,763
2,039,894
1,926,630
—

10,742,412
2,312,947
1,808,411
3,909,198

34,900,438

34,903,342

185,461,746
13,280,760
481,866
14,994
199,239,366
(150,447,400)
48,791,966

185,405,886
14,272,341
486,700
14,994
200,179,921
(137,072,725)
63,107,196

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - at cost
Machinery and equipment
Automobiles and trucks
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
LONG-TERM DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Goodwill
Other assets

$

Total assets
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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1,154,500

—

201,530
73,900
275,430

201,530
89,470
291,000

85,122,334

$

98,301,538

TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — Continued
December 31,
2014

2013

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Federal and state income taxes payable
Current maturities of notes payable
Current portion of capital lease obligations

$

Total current liabilities

7,764,269
1,715,507
4,451,102
391,579
7,296,950
799,010

$

4,097,819
2,585,993
653,220
—
8,434,879
1,423,268

22,418,417

17,195,179

5,224,812

6,483,112

417,369

901,707

—

4,590,739

—

—

73,808

73,634

Additional paid-in capital

32,498,425

31,655,929

Retained earnings

32,229,185

41,757,515

Treasury stock, at cost; 48,445 shares in each period

(1,251,099)

(1,251,099)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - foreign currency translation adjustments

(6,488,583)
57,061,736

(3,105,178)
69,130,801

NOTES PAYABLE, less current maturities
CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current portion
LONG-TERM DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 4,000,000 shares authorized; issued - none
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 35,000,000 shares authorized; 7,380,780 and 7,363,374 shares issued and
outstanding in each period, respectively

$

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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85,122,334

$

98,301,538

TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,
2014

Revenue

$

Cost and expenses
Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization expense

2013

118,847,754

$

101,582,377
11,660,137
19,152,286
132,394,800

Income (loss) from operations

Income tax expense (benefit):
Current
Deferred
Income tax expense (benefit):
Net income (loss)

$

196,317,215
135,279,937
8,755,270
25,502,597
169,537,804

(7,378,074)

26,779,411

1,091,476

1,222,454

(14,224,764)

(8,469,550)

25,556,957

1,048,805
(5,745,239)
(4,696,434)

1,155,204
(3,308,713)
(2,153,509)

9,525,543
359,535
9,885,078

677,718

Income (loss) before income taxes

134,534,540
107,675,356
9,593,068
24,644,190
141,912,614

(13,547,046)

Interest expense

2012

$

(9,528,330)

$

(6,316,041)

$

15,671,879

$
$

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

(0.87)
(0.87)

$
$

2.19
2.15

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

7,322,358
7,322,358

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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7,280,527
7,280,527

7,171,212
7,299,458

TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Years Ended December 31,
2014

Net income (loss)

$

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency translation adjustments

(9,528,330)

2013

$

(3,383,405)
$

Comprehensive income (loss)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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(12,911,735 )

(6,316,041)

2012

$

(3,926,881)
$

(10,242,922 )

15,671,879
714,576

$

16,386,455

TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balances at December 31, 2011
5% common stock dividend
Cash dividend
Issuance of restricted common stock
Exercise of stock options
Amortization of unearned compensation
restricted stock awards
Amortization of compensation cost of
unvested stock options
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net income
Balances at December 31, 2012
5% common stock dividend
Issuance (rescindment) of restricted common
stock
Exercise of stock options
Amortization of unearned compensation
restricted stock awards
Amortization of compensation cost of
unvested stock options
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net income (loss)
Balances at December 31, 2013
Issuance of restricted common stock, net of
retirements
Forfeiture of stock options
Exercise of stock options
Amortization of unearned compensation
restricted stock awards
Amortization of compensation cost of
unvested stock options
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net income (loss)
Balances at December 31, 2014

6,449,478
323,997
—
73,041
64,316

$

64,495
3,240
—
730
643

—

—

—
—
—
6,910,832
346,075

—
—
—
69,108
3,461

(3,000)
109,467

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

$ 28,305,911
(4,390)
—
(730)
810,352

$ 35,499,541
—
(3,097,864)
—
—

317,110
283,950
—
—
29,712,203
(4,400)

(30)
1,095

Treasury
Stock

—

$

(257,394)
—
—
—
(433,615)

$

—

107,127
—
—
—
—
—

Total
$ 63,719,680
(1,150)
(3,097,864)
—
377,380
317,110

—
—
15,671,879
48,073,556
—

—
—
—
(691,009)
—

—
714,576
—
821,703
—

273,097
975,385

—
—

—
(560,090)

—
—

273,067
416,390

—

—

492,692

—

—

492,692

—
—
—
7,363,374

—
—
—
73,634

206,952
—
—
31,655,929

2,753
—
14,653

28
—
146

—
—
—
—
7,380,780

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

—
—
(6,316,041)
41,757,515

—
—
—
—
(1,251,099)

—
(3,926,881)
—
(3,105,178)

283,950
714,576
15,671,879
77,985,561
(939)

206,952
(3,926,881)
(6,316,041)
69,130,801

70,768
(622)
154,408

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

70,796
(622)
154,554

—

358,678

—

—

—

358,678

—
—
—
73,808

259,264
—
—
$ 32,498,425

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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—
—
(9,528,330)
$ 32,229,185

—
—
—
$ (1,251,099 )

$

—
(3,383,405)
—
(6,488,583 )

259,264
(3,383,405)
(9,528,330)
$ 57,061,736

TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2014

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Bad debt expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade accounts receivable
Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Prepaid expenses and other
Prepaid federal and state income tax
Other assets
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Federal and state income tax payable
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments on notes payable
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury shares
Payment of dividends
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rates on cash

(9,528,330)

2013

$

$

15,671,879

19,152,286
(242,265)
688,115
(5,745,239)
557,867

24,644,190
(676,422)
972,711
(3,308,713)
—

25,502,597
(1,069,766)
601,059
359,535
—

(9,889,349)
271,933
3,033,527
3,788,568
12,624
3,800,394
(859,640)
3,797,882
417,002
9,255,375

24,086,780
3,950,483
3,230,777
(3,777,853)
3,755
(9,439,503)
(2,856,390)
(3,068,487)
(4,475,945)
22,969,342

(16,021,574)
(1,121,420)
2,820,516
78,268
(17,991)
4,328,707
2,911,755
2,814,863
2,424,634
39,283,062

(1,379,395)
415,419
(963,976)

(1,848,678)
1,181,180
(667,498)

(31,970,418)
1,704,722
(30,265,696)

(11,657,862)
(1,536,375)
154,554
—
—
(13,039,683)
(4,748,284)

(13,342,462)
(2,069,661)
416,390
—
(939)
(14,996,672)
7,305,172

(11,338,097)
(2,081,176)
377,381
—
(3,099,014)
(16,140,906)
(7,123,540)

(18,939)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(6,316,041)

2012

210,958

16,130,374

(7,775)

8,614,244

15,745,559

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

11,363,151

$

16,130,374

$

8,614,244

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid (received)

$
$

677,718
(3,052,418)

$
$

1,129,581
9,474,481

$
$

1,222,454
7,022,640

Noncash investing and financing activities
Capital lease obligations incurred
Financed equipment purchase
Financed insurance premiums
Restricted stock awards to employees, net of cancellations
Stock awards to employees
Treasury shares issued for stock options exercised

$
$
$
$
$
$

479,405
6,096,173
3,171,195
100,200
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

626,187
—
3,237,881
25,440
—
560,090

$
$
$
$
$
$

2,935,514
22,201,800
3,050,024
1,334,014
—
433,615

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
NOTE A — NATURE OF OPERATIONS/BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Company (as defined below) is engaged in the geophysical services business and primarily conducts seismic surveys and sells gravity data to
companies engaged in exploration in the oil and gas industry in the U.S. and Canada.
Material Transaction
On February 11, 2015, pursuant to the previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 8, 2014 (the “Merger Agreement”), by
and among TGC Industries, Inc. (“Legacy TGC” or the “Company”), Dawson Geophysical Company (“Legacy Dawson”), and Riptide Acquisition Corp., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), merged with and into Legacy Dawson, with Legacy Dawson continuing after the merger as the
surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. At the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), without any action on the part of
any shareholder, each issued and outstanding share of Legacy Dawson’s common stock, par value $0.331/3 per share (the “Legacy Dawson Common Stock”),
including shares underlying Legacy Dawson’s outstanding equity awards, was converted into the right to receive 1.760 shares of common stock of the
Company, par value $0.01 per share (the “Company Common Stock”), after giving effect to a 1-for-3 reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding
Company Common Stock which occurred immediately prior to the Merger (the “Reverse Stock Split”). In connection with the Merger, Legacy Dawson
changed its name to “Dawson Operating Company” and Legacy TGC changed its name to “Dawson Geophysical Company.” These financial statements
represent only the financial condition and the results of operations for Legacy TGC as of and for the three years ended December 31, 2014 and do not include
the financial results of Legacy Dawson.
Reverse Stock Split
All share and per share amounts of common stock have been retrospectively adjusted to give effect to the Reverse Stock Split effected on
February 11, 2015, including those amounts included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been adjusted for all periods to give retroactive
effect to the Reverse Stock Split.
NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of TGC Industries, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries prior to the Merger. We have
eliminated all significant intercompany accounts and transactions.
Business Combinations
We record acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, have included the results of operations of acquired businesses in
our consolidated results from the date of each acquisition. We allocate the purchase price of our acquisitions to the tangible assets, liabilities, and intangible
assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The excess purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. The fair value assigned to assets
acquired is based on valuations provided by independent consultants and using management’s estimates and assumptions.
Foreign Currency
The functional currency of the Company’s international subsidiary is the local currency. Local currency assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates of exchange on the balance sheet date, and local currency revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange during the period. The
resulting translation adjustments are recorded directly into a separate component of shareholders’ equity and represents the only component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss).
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TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturity dates of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company
maintains its accounts at financial institutions located in Texas and Alberta, Canada. The Texas bank accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation up to $250,000. The Alberta bank accounts are insured by the Canadian Depository Insurance Corporation up to $100,000 Canadian.
Trade Accounts Receivable
Trade accounts receivable are recorded in accordance with terms and amounts as specified in the related contracts on an ongoing basis. The
Company evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable on a specific account basis using a combination of factors including the age of the outstanding
balances, evaluation of the customer’s financial condition, and discussions with relevant Company personnel and with the customers directly. An allowance
for doubtful accounts or direct write-off is recorded when it is determined that the receivable may not be collected, depending on the facts known and the
probability of collection of the outstanding amount.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the individual assets ranging from 1 to 7 years. The depreciation expense on assets acquired under capital leases is included with depreciation expense on
owned assets. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets held and used by the Company are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. For the purposes of evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, the recoverability test is performed
using undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets. Long-lived assets as of December 31, 2014 were approximately $48,792,000, with
$18,621,000 located in the United States and $30,171,000 located in Canada. Long-lived assets as of December 31, 2013 were approximately $63,107,000,
with $20,148,000 located in the United States and $42,959,000 located in Canada. Long-lived assets as of December 31, 2012 were approximately
$89,386,000, with $32,390,000 located in the United States and $56,996,000 located in Canada. No impairment charge was necessary at December 31, 2014,
2013, and 2012.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740 (“Topic 740”).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax expense or benefit is the result of changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities. The components of the
deferred tax assets and liabilities are individually classified as current or non-current based on their characteristics. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a
valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Topic 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In accordance with Topic 740, the Company recognizes in its financial statements the impact of a tax position if
that position is “more likely than not” to be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company’s estimate of the potential
outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts, and circumstances existing at that time. Topic 740 also
provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, and disclosure. Interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits, if any, are recorded as income tax expense. See Note H for further information.
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Revenue Recognition
Seismic Surveys
The Company provides seismic data acquisition survey services to its customers under general service agreements which define certain obligations
for the Company and for its customers. The Company typically enters into a supplemental agreement setting forth the terms of each project, which may be
canceled by either party upon 30 days’ advance written notice. These supplemental agreements are either “turnkey” agreements providing for a fixed fee to
be paid for each unit of seismic data acquired or “term” agreements providing for a fixed hourly, daily, or monthly fee during the term of the project. Under
both types of agreements, the Company recognizes revenues when services have been performed and revenue is realizable. Services are defined as the
commencement of data acquisition. Revenues are deemed realizable when earned according to the terms of the contracts. Under turnkey agreements, the
total number of units of seismic data to be gathered is set forth in the agreement. Revenue under turnkey agreements is recognized on a per unit of seismic
data acquired rate as services are performed. Revenue under term agreements is recognized on a per unit of time worked rate as services are performed based
on the time worked rate provided in the term agreement. In the event of a canceled contract, revenue is recognized and the client is billed for services
performed to the date of contract cancellation. When it becomes evident that the estimates of total costs to be incurred on a contract will exceed the total
estimates of revenue to be earned, an estimated loss is recognized in the period in which the loss is identifiable. The asset “Cost and estimated earnings in
excess of billings on uncompleted contracts” represents cost incurred on turnkey agreements in excess of billings on those agreements. The liability
“Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts” represents billings on turnkey agreements in excess of cost on those
agreements.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is a measure of income which includes both net income and other comprehensive income or loss. Other comprehensive
income or loss results from items deferred from recognition in the statement of operations, which consists solely of foreign currency translation adjustments.
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is presented on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as a part of shareholder’s equity. In addition, the
Company reports comprehensive income (loss) and its components in a separate statement of comprehensive income (loss).
Foreign currency translation income or loss represents changes in foreign currency rates used to translate the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the Company’s international subsidiary from the local currency. These changes in foreign currency rates may never be realized or may only be
partially realized upon the ultimate disposition, if any, of the international subsidiary. The Company’s foreign investment is considered permanent in nature
as there are no plans in the foreseeable future for divestiture.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2013 financial statements to conform to the 2014 presentation.
Share-Based Compensation
The Company has two stock-based compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note G. The Company recognizes the fair value of the
share-based compensation awards as wages in the Statements of Operations on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. As a result, during the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company recognized compensation expense for unvested stock options of $259,264, $206,952, and
$283,950, respectively, and unvested restricted stock of $358,679, $492,692, and $317,110, respectively.
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No incentive stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the fair value
of the option grant was estimated on the date of the grant using the Binomial Lattice option pricing model with the following assumptions used for the
outstanding grants: risk-free interest rate of 1.04%; expected dividend yield of 0.0%; expected life of 5.0 years; and expected volatility of 45.0%.
Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments recorded on the consolidated balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and debt. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the
short-term nature of these items. The carrying amounts of debt obligations approximate fair value due to their relative short-term maturities and their contract
rates which approximate market.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per common share are based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per share
are based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and, when dilutive, common shares issuable for stock options, warrants, and
convertible securities.
All share and per share amounts for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, have been adjusted to reflect 5% stock dividends paid
May 14, 2013 and May 14, 2012 to shareholders of record as of April 30, 2013, and April 30, 2012, respectively, and the 1-for-3 Reverse Stock Split effected
February 11, 2015. No stock dividends were declared or paid during the year ended December 31, 2014.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Recent Accounting Standards
In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic
740) - Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists
(“ASU 2013-11”). ASU 2013-11 clarifies the balance sheet presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit and was issued to resolve the diversity in practice
that had developed in the absence any specific U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). ASU 2013-11 is applicable to all entities that
have an unrecognized tax benefit due to a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, of a tax credit carryforward. ASU 2013-11 is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013, and does not create any new disclosure requirements. The Company
adopted ASU 2013-11 on January 1, 2014, and it did not have a significant effect on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue (Topic 606) - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09
supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP and establishes a comprehensive revenue recognition standard for virtually all
industries, including those that previously followed industry-specific guidance. The revenue standard’s core principle is built on the contract between a
vendor and a customer for the provision of goods and services. It attempts to depict the exchange of rights and obligations between the parties in the pattern
of revenue recognition based on the consideration to which the vendor is entitled. Three basic transition methods are available—full retrospective,
retrospective with certain practical expedients, and a cumulative effect approach. Under the third alternative, an entity would apply the new revenue
standard only to contracts that are incomplete under legacy U.S. GAAP at the date of initial application (i.e., January 1, 2017) and recognize the cumulative
effect of the new standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of
40

TGC Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONCLUDED
retained earnings. That is, prior years would not be restated and additional disclosures would be required to enable users of the financial statements to
understand the impact of adopting the new standard in the current year compared to prior years that are presented under legacy U.S. GAAP. ASU 2014-09 is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods therein. Early adoption is prohibited. The Company will adopt
ASU 2014-09 on January 1, 2017. The Company will begin evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financial
statements and has not yet determined the method by which it will adopt the standard in 2017.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40) (“ASU 2014-15”).
ASU 2014-15 provides guidance on management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern and in certain circumstances to provide related footnote disclosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for the annual period ending after December 15,
2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance, however it does not
expect any impact on its consolidated financial statements.
NOTE C — COSTS, BILLINGS, AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS ON UNCOMPLETED CONTRACTS
The components of uncompleted contracts are as follows at December 31:
2014

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts and estimated earnings
Less billings to date

$
$

2,326,653
(4,737,861)
(2,411,208 )

2013

$
$

2,476,716
(816,989)
1,659,727

The components of uncompleted contracts are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as follows at December 31:
2014

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts

$
$
41

2,039,894
(4,451,102)
(2,411,208 )

2013

$
$

2,312,947
(653,220)
1,659,727
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Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31:
2014

Compensation and payroll taxes
Accrued sales and use tax
Insurance
Accrued interest
Other

$

2013

817,888
(322,543)
144,228
35,000
1,040,934
1,715,507

$

$

1,091,191
56,486
40,193
35,000
1,363,123
2,585,993

$

NOTE E - DEBT
Line of Credit
In September 2013 and again in September 2014, the Company renewed its revolving line of credit allowing the Company to borrow, repay, and reborrow, from time to time, up to $5,000,000. Interest on the outstanding amount under the line of credit loan agreement is payable monthly at the greater of
the prime rate of interest or five percent. The credit loan agreement is secured by a security interest in the Company’s accounts receivable. As of
December 31, 2014, and since its inception, the Company has not had any borrowings outstanding under the line of credit loan agreement. The line of credit
expires September 16, 2015.
Notes Payable
Notes payable consists of the following at December 31:
2014

Notes payable to commercial banks
Four outstanding notes payable as of 12/31/2014 with interest between 3.5% and 4.6%, due in
monthly installments between $128,363 and $215,863 plus interest; collateralized by equipment

$

Notes payable to finance companies for insurance
Two outstanding notes payable as of 12/31/2014 with interest between 4.09% and 4.95%, due in
monthly installments between $14,674 and $326,366 including interest
$
Less current maturities
$
Aggregate annual maturities of notes payable at December 31, 2014 are as follows:
Year Ending
December 31,

2015
2016
2017
2018

$

$

7,296,950
3,572,428
1,652,384
—
12,521,762
42

12,072,454

449, 308
12,521,762
(7,296,950)
5,224,812

2013

$

$
$

14,416,225

501,766
14,917,991
(8,434,879)
6,483,112
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Capital Lease Obligations
The Company leases vehicles and certain specialized seismic equipment under leases classified as capital leases. The following is a schedule
showing the future minimum lease payments under capital leases by years and the present value of the minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2014:
Year Ending
December 31,

2015
2016
2017
2018
Total minimum lease payments required
Less: Amount representing interest
Present value of minimum lease payments
Less current maturities

$

$

847,430
293,176
146,417
—
1,287,023
(70,644)
1,216,379
(799,010)
417,369

The net book value of the capital assets leased was approximately $1,626,000 and $2,954,000 as of December 31, 2014, and 2013, respectively.
Total accumulated depreciation for fixed assets under capital lease with remaining obligations was approximately $3,349,000 and $4,020,000 as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Interest rates on these leases range from 4.58% to 8.17%.
Operating Lease Obligations
At December 31, 2014, the Company leased six offices and two warehouse facilities under operating leases that expire at various dates between
April 2014 and October 2018 with one lease on a month-to-month basis. One of the office facilities, used by the Company as its corporate headquarters, is
located in Plano, Texas. One of the office facilities, used by Eagle Canada, is located in Calgary, Alberta. The warehouse facilities, used as warehouse and
equipment repair facilities, are located in Denison, Texas, and Calgary, Alberta. Three office facilities are used as sales offices and are located in Houston,
Texas, Midland, Texas, and Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. The remaining office facility, located in Pratt, Kansas, is used as a permitting office. Rent expense for
these facilities for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was approximately $720,000, $750,000, and $700,000, respectively.
The following is a schedule by years of future minimum rental payments required under the operating leases as of December 31, 2014:
2015
2016
2017
2018 and thereafter
Total minimum payments required

$

$
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1,075,513
394,019
104,934
2,719,825
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Net Income (Loss) Per Share
The following is a reconciliation of net income (loss) and weighted average common shares outstanding for purposes of calculating basic and
diluted net income (loss) per share:
December 31,
2013

2014

Numerator:
Net income (loss)

$

Denominator:
Basic - weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Stock options

Basic net income (loss) per share
Diluted net income (loss) per share

$
$

(9,528,330)

$

2012

(6,316,041)

$

15,671,879

7,322,358

7,280,527

7,171,212

—
7,322,358

—
7,280,527

128,246
7,299,458

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

(0.87)
(0.87)

$
$

2.19
2.15

Outstanding options that were not included in the diluted calculation because their effect would be anti-dilutive totaled 279,756, 152,576 and
14,790 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
All share and per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect 5% stock dividends paid May 14, 2013, and May 14, 2012, to shareholders of record
as of April 30, 2013, and April 30, 2012 and the 1-for-3 Reverse Stock Split effected February 11, 2015.
Share-Based Compensation Plans
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had in effect a 2006 stock award plan (the “2006 Plan”). At the June 11, 2010 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, the shareholders approved an increase of 666,667 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2006 Plan. This increased the total aggregate
number of shares of common stock under the 2006 Plan to 1,000,000 shares. The 2006 Plan provides for the granting of stock options, common stock, and
restricted stock. The 2006 Plan is administered by a committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”). Currently the Committee is comprised of three
directors. Any stock options granted under the 2006 Plan will be exercisable as set forth in the option agreements pursuant to which they are issued, but in
no event will stock options be exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years from the date of grant. Outstanding options, under the 2006 Plan at
December 31, 2014, have vesting periods ranging from the date of grant to the third annual anniversary of the grant.
During 2014, 180,833 options were granted, and 53,654 options were exercised or canceled under the 2006 Plan. During 2013, 39,203 options were
granted, and 130,577 options were exercised or canceled under the 2006 Plan. During 2012, 47,867 options were granted, and 81,481 options were exercised
or canceled under the 2006 Plan. Restricted stock consists of shares that are transferred by the Company to a participant, but are subject to substantial risk of
forfeiture and to restrictions on their sale or other transfer by the participant. Any restricted stock granted or issued under the 2006 Plan will vest as set forth
in the restricted stock agreement pursuant to which it was issued or granted. The provisions of the restricted stock agreements need not be the same with
respect to each participant. In November of 2011, December of 2011, January of 2012, August of 2012, February 1, 2013 and June 25, 2013, the Committee
granted 8,443, 7,173, 2,000, 71,041, 2,000 and 10,000 shares of restricted stock, respectively. On April 30, 2013, the Committee rescinded 15,000 shares of
restricted stock previously granted in August of 2012. The shares of restricted stock were issued in the names of the grantees and had restrictive legends
prohibiting their sales prior to vesting. Vesting periods, for restricted stock issued to date, range from at grant date to the third annual anniversary of the
grant. Upon vesting, a new certificate is issued for the vested portion without the restrictive legend.
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During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company recognized compensation expense associated with the restricted stock of
$358,678, $492,692, and $317,110, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, no unamortized deferred stock-based
compensation was related to any employee that left the Company.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company recognized compensation expense associated with unvested options of
$259,264, $206,952, and $283,950, respectively.
The following table summarizes activity under the 2006 Plan:
Weighted
Average
exercise price

Shares under
Option

Balance at December 31, 2011
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Balance at December 31, 2012
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Balance at December 31, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Balance at December 31, 2014

277,565
47,867
(64,316)
(17,166)
243,950
39,204
(109,468)
(21,110)
152,576
180,833
(14,652)
(39,001)
279,756

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

11.91
20.58
12.60
26.82
12.48
22.83
8.91
19.83
15.93
11.79
10.56
10.86
14.25

The following information applies to options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2014:

Range of
Exercise prices

Outstanding options
Exercisable options

$11.79 — $21.54
$11.79 — $21.54
45

Number
outstanding

279,756
133,505

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life (in years)

3.93
3.22

Weighted
average
exercise price

$
$

14.25
16.94
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The income tax provision (benefit) charged to continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, was as follows:
2014

Current:
U.S. federal
Foreign
State and local

$

—
1,191,079
(142,274)
1,048,805
(5,745,239)
(4,696,434 )

Deferred expense (benefit)
$

2013

$

2012

—
949,207
205,997
1,155,204
(3,308,713)
(2,153,509 )

$

$

3,947,400
5,313,874
264,269
9,525,543
359,535
9,885,078

$

The components of the Company’s income (loss) before income tax expense attributable to domestic and foreign operations amounted to
$(17,774,883) and $3,550,119, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2014. The components of the Company’s income before income tax expense
attributable to domestic and foreign operations amounted to $(12,635,002) and $4,165,452, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013. The
components of the Company’s income before income tax expense attributable to domestic and foreign operations amounted to $6,018,971 and $19,537,986,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the U.S. federal
income tax rate (34% for 2014, 34% for 2013, and 35% for 2012) to pretax income (loss) from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013, and 2012, due to the following:
2014

Computed “expected” tax expense
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Reduction in deferred assets
Nondeductible expenses and other
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit

$

(4,836,420)

$

(281,432)
515,923
(94,505)
(4,696,434 )

2013

$

(2,879,647)

$

—
590,180
135,958
(2,153,509 )

2012

$

8,944,935

$

—
768,652
171,491
9,885,078

Net deferred tax liabilities consist of the following components as of December 31, 2014 and 2013:
2014

Deferred tax assets
Foreign tax credits
Net operating loss carry forwards
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liability
Property, equipment, and intangible asset
Total deferred tax assets (liabilities)

$

$
46

1,611,329
3,940,285
199,821
5,751,435
(4,596,935)
1,154,500

2013

$

$

244,898
61,139
88,911
394,948
(4,985,687)
(4,590,739 )
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The components giving rise to the net deferred tax items described above have been included in the accompanying balance sheets as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, as follows:
2014

Noncurrent assets
Noncurrent (liabilities)

$
$

1,154,500
—
1,154,500

2013

$
$

—
(4,590,739)
(4,590,739 )

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has U.S. net operating loss carry forwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately
$12,400,000. These net operating losses are available to offset future federal taxable income, if any, and expire from 2027 through 2034. The amount of net
operating loss carry forwards that may reduce federal income taxes in any given year are subject to annual limitations and taxable income requirements. The
foreign tax credit of $1,611,000 expires during the years ranging from 2022-2024.
The Company files a U.S. consolidated federal income tax return for operating activities in the U.S. and Canada. The Company also files federal and
local tax returns in Canada, as well as state tax returns in a number of state and local jurisdictions in the U.S. The Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns
filed for 2011 through 2013 are subject to audit by the IRS. The Company’s income tax returns filed in Canada for 2011 through 2013 remain subject to
examination by Canadian authorities. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits within its provision for income
taxes.
NOTE I - 401(k) PLAN
The Company has a 401(k) salary deferral plan which covers all employees who have reached the age of 21 years and have been employed by the
Company for at least one year. The covered employees may elect to have an amount deducted from their wages for investment in the retirement plan. The
Company makes contributions to the plan equal to 50% of each participant’s salary reduction contributions to the plan up to 6% of the participant’s
compensation. The Company’s matching contribution to the plan was approximately $183,000, $158,000, and $113,000, for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
NOTE J - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
The Company sells its geophysical services primarily to large independent oil and gas companies operating in the U.S. and Canada. The Company
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and, generally, requires no collateral from its customers.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company’s two largest customers accounted for approximately 18% and 11% of revenues, and
during the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2012, the Company’s largest customers accounted for approximately 12% and 16% of revenues, respectively.
As of December 31, 2014, four customers accounted for 26%, 12%, 10% and 10% of outstanding accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2013, three
customers accounted for 27%, 16% and 15% of outstanding accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2012, two customers accounted for 29% and 23% of
outstanding accounts receivable. During 2014, one vendor represented 20% of our purchases. During 2013, no vendor represented over 10% of our
purchases. During 2012, one vendor represented 12% of our purchases.
NOTE K - CONTINGENCIES
In conducting its activities, the Company from time to time is the subject of various claims arising from the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of management, it is remote that these claims will be material to the Company’s results of operations and liquidity.
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The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the two years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands,
except per share amounts):
2014

Revenues
Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per basic share
Net income (loss) per diluted share

$

2013

Revenues
Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per basic share
Net income (loss) per diluted share

Three Months Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

48,801
7,197
4,280
0.57
0.57

$

63,204
10,905
6,351
0.87
0.87

$

26,095
(5,973)
(4,009)
(0.54)
(0.54)

$

Three Months Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

$

18,237
(6,434)
(4,032)
(0.54)
(0.54)

December 31

$

31,487
(5,620)
(4,004)
(0.55)
(0.55)

$

21,115
(5,827)
(3,952)
(0.55)
(0.55)

25,715
(8,337)
(5,767)
(0.79)
(0.79)
December 31

$

18,728
(6,836)
(4,712)
(0.64)
(0.64)

NOTE M — SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On February 11, 2015, pursuant to the previously announced Merger Agreement, Merger Sub was merged with and into Legacy Dawson with Legacy
Dawson continuing after the Merger as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. At the Effective Time, without any action on the
part of any shareholder, each issued and outstanding share of Legacy Dawson Common Stock, including shares underlying Legacy Dawson’s outstanding
equity awards, was converted into the right to receive 1.760 shares of common stock of the Company Common Stock, after giving effect to the Reverse Stock
Split. In connection with the Merger, Legacy Dawson changed its name to “Dawson Operating Company” and the Company changed its name to “Dawson
Geophysical Company.” As a result of the Merger, the former shareholders of Legacy Dawson received shares of Company Common Stock representing
approximately 66% of the outstanding shares of the Company after the Merger and the Company’s shareholders retained approximately 34% of the
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock after the Merger.
Beginning with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2015, post-combination Dawson Geophysical Company will
report on a consolidated basis representing the combined operations of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson and their respective subsidiaries. The quarter
ending March 31, 2015 will be the first quarterly reporting period following the combination of Legacy TGC and Legacy Dawson, which was consummated
on February 11, 2015. Because Legacy Dawson was deemed the accounting acquirer under U.S. GAAP, the historical financial statements of Legacy Dawson
will be treated as the historical financial statements of the combined company in post-combination Dawson Geophysical Company’s future reports.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not Applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains controls and procedures designed to ensure that it is able to collect the information it is required to disclose in the reports it
files with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and to process, summarize, and disclose this information within the time periods specified in
the rules of the SEC. Based on an evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report conducted by the Company’s management, with the participation of the
Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers believe that these controls and procedures are effective to
ensure that the Company is able to record, process, summarize, and report information required to be included in reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act, within the required time period. There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended
December 31, 2014, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework (2013). Based on our assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2014, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
is effective based on those criteria.
The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, has been audited by Lane Gorman Trubitt, PLLC, the
independent registered public accounting firm which audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Lane Gorman Trubitt, PLLC’s attestation
report on effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting appears in their Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Not Applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference from the earlier filed of: (i) an amendment to this annual
report on Form 10-K or (ii) the Company’s definitive proxy statement which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the Company’s
year end for the year covered by this report.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference from the earlier filed of: (i) an amendment to this annual
report on Form 10-K or (ii) the Company’s definitive proxy statement which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the Company’s
year end for the year covered by this report.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference from the earlier filed of: (i) an amendment to this annual
report on Form 10-K or (ii) the Company’s definitive proxy statement which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the Company’s
year end for the year covered by this report.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference from the earlier filed of: (i) an amendment to this annual
report on Form 10-K or (ii) the Company’s definitive proxy statement which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the Company’s
year end for the year covered by this report.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference from the earlier filed of: (i) an amendment to this annual
report on Form 10-K or (ii) the Company’s definitive proxy statement, which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the Company’s
year end for the year covered by this report.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a)

The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
(1) Financial Statements included in Item 8 herein.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules included in Item 8 herein:
All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore, have been omitted.
(3) Exhibits: The information required by this Item 15(a)(3) is set forth in the Index to Exhibits accompanying this Annual Report on Form 10K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMAPNY
Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Wayne A. Whitener
Wayne A. Whitener
Vice Chairman and Director

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ James K. Brata
James K. Brata
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ William J. Barrett
William J. Barrett
Director

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Craig W. Cooper
Craig W. Cooper
Director

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Gary M. Hoover, Ph.D.
Gary M. Hoover, Ph. D.
Director

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Allen T. McInnes, Ph.D.
Allen T. McInnes, Ph. D.
Director

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Ted R. North
Ted R. North
Director

Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Mark A. Vander Ploeg
Mark A. Vander Ploeg
Director
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT
NO.

DESCRIPTION

#2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 8, 2014, by and among Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company),
the Registrant and Riptide Acquisition Corp., filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9,
2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

*3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation, as amended February 11, 2015.

*3.2

Bylaws, as amended February 11, 2015.

4.1

Form of Specimen Stock Certificate, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 11, 2015, and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.1

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated September 16, 2009,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 22, 2009 (File No. 001-32472), and incorporated
herein by reference.

10.2

Amended and Restated Promissory Note, by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated September 16, 2009, filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 22, 2009 (File No. 001-32472), and incorporated herein
by reference.

10.3

Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Amended and Restated Promissory Note by and between the
Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated September 16, 2010, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.4

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Amendment to Amended and Restated Promissory Note,
by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated September 16, 2011, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on September 22, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.5

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated
January 26, 2012, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2012, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.6

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated
September 16, 2012, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2012, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.7

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated as
o f October 11, 2012, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013, and
incorporated herein by reference

10.8

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Amendment to Amended and Restated Promissory
Note, by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated as of September 16, 2013, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.9

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and Amendment to Amended and Restated Promissory Note,
by and between the Registrant and Sovereign Bank, dated September 16, 2014, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on September 19, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.
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+10.10

The Executive Nonqualified “Excess” Plan Adoption Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on January 8, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.11

The Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan Document, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
January 8, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.12

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered with directors and executive officers, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.13

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Stephen C. Jumper, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.14

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Wayne A. Whitener, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.15

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and C. Ray Tobias, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.16

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Daniel G. Winn, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.17

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and James K. Brata, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.18

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Christina W. Hagan, filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.19

Employment Agreement, dated October 8, 2014, by and between the Registrant and James W. Thomas, filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 9, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.20

Amended and Restated Dawson Geophysical Company 2006 Stock and Performance Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 11, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.21

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 2006 Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on February 11, 2008 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.22

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 2006 Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on December 11, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.23

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the 2006 Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson
Geophysical Company) Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on December 11, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by
reference.

+10.24

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the 2006 Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on February 11, 2008 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.
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+10.25

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the 2006 Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on December 11, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

+10.26

Dawson Geophysical 2014 Annual Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 25, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.27

Form of Master Geophysical Data Acquisition Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson
Geophysical Company) Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on December 5, 2012 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.28

Form of Supplemental Agreement to Master Geophysical Data Acquisition Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Dawson Operating
Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on December 5, 2012 (File No. 001-34404), and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.29

Revolving Line of Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2013, between Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson
Geophysical Company) and Western National Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 26, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.30

Security Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2013, between Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) and Western
National Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on June 26, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.31

Multiple Advance Term Note Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2012, between Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) and Western National Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company)
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 9, 2012 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.32

Security Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2012, between Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) and Western
National Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed on August 9, 2012 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.33

Multiple Advance Term Note Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2013, between Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical
Company) and Western National Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company)
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 10, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

10.34

Security Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2013, between Dawson Operating Company (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) and
Western National Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Dawson Operating Company’s (f/k/a Dawson Geophysical Company) Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on December 10, 2013 (File No. 001-34404), and incorporated herein by reference.

*21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

*23.1

Consent of Lane Gorman Trubitt, PLLC, independent registered public accountants to incorporation of report by reference.

*31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

*31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
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*32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

*32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

* Filed herewith.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Exhibit 3.1
Amended and Restated
Certificate of Formation
OF
TGC INDUSTRIES, INC.
Pursuant to the provisions of Sections 3.057, 3.058, 3.059, and 3.060 of the Texas Business Organizations Code (the “TBOC”), TGC
INDUSTRIES, INC., a Texas for-profit corporation (the “Corporation”), adopts on this 4th day of June, 2013, this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Formation which completely supersedes and replaces the Restated Articles of Incorporation (with Amendment) filed with the Texas Secretary of State on
June 20, 2003 (the “2003 Restated Articles”) that are now in effect, as further amended by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation, and does not
contain any other change except for information omitted under Section 3.059(b) of the TBOC and as set forth in Sections 3, 4, 5 and 6 below.
Section 1
The name of the Corporation as currently shown in the records of the Texas Secretary of State is “TGC INDUSTRIES, INC.” The type of filing entity
of the Corporation is a Texas for-profit corporation. The date of formation of the Corporation was March 28, 1980, and it has been assigned file number
51318400.
Section 2
The amendment hereafter described in Section 3 has been properly approved in the manner prescribed by Sections 21.053 through 21.055 of the
TBOC and by its governing documents.
Section 3
Article 3 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
3.
Purposes. The Corporation is organized as a for-profit corporation under the Texas Business Organizations Code for the purpose of carrying
out any lawful purpose or purposes.
Section 4
Article 4 is amended by amending Article 4.a. in its entirety to read as follows:
4.

Shares. The Corporation may issue two classes of shares as follows:

a. Common Stock.
The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock which the Corporation may issue is 35,000,000 shares, each
having a par value of $.01. The shares shall be designated as Common Stock and shall have identical rights and privileges in every respect.
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Section 5
Article 8 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
8.
Directors. The number of directors constituting the present board of directors is six (6), and the names and addresses of the persons who will
serve as directors until the next annual meeting and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified are:
Name

Address

Wayne A. Whitener

101 E. Park Blvd., Ste 955
Plano, TX 75074

William J. Barrett

P. O. Box 6199
Fair Haven, NJ 07704

Herbert M. Gardner

P. O. Box 463
Wading River, NY 11792

Allen T. McInnes

4532 7 th Street
Lubbock, TX 79416

Edward L. Flynn

7511 Myrtle Avenue
Glendale, NY 11385

Stephanie P. Hurtt

P. O. Box 643695
Vero Beach, FL 32964
Section 6

Various articles are amended to conform terms and references specified by the Texas Business Organizations Code.
Section 7
The text of the 2003 Restated Articles being restated and amended by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation are hereby completely
superseded and replaced with the following:
1.

Name. The name of the Corporation is TGC INDUSTRIES, INC.

2.

Duration. The period of its duration is perpetual.

3.
Purposes. The Corporation is organized as a for-profit corporation under the Texas Business Organizations Code for the purpose of carrying
out any lawful purpose or purposes.
4.

Shares. The Corporation may issue two classes of shares as follows:

a.
Common Stock. The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock which the Corporation may issue is 35,000,000 shares, each
having a par value of $.01. The shares shall be designated as Common Stock and shall have identical rights and privileges in every respect.
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b.
Preferred Stock. The aggregate number of shares of Preferred Stock which the Corporation may issue is 4,000,000, each having a
par value of $1.00. The Preferred Stock authorized by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation may be issued from time to time in series. The
shares of each series shall be subject not only to the provisions of this Article 4b which is applicable to all series of preferred shares, but also to the additional
provisions with respect to such series as are fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors. All preferred shares of each series shall be identical and of equal
rank, except as may be modified by the Board of Directors. Each share of each series shall be identical in all respects with the other shares of such series,
except as to the date from which dividends thereon shall be cumulative in the event the Board designates any such series to be cumulative preferred. The
Board of Directors is hereby authorized and required to fix, in the manner and to the full extent provided and permitted by law, all provisions of the shares of
each series not otherwise set forth in this Certificate, including, but not limited to:
(1)
Designation of Series-Number of Shares. The distinctive designation of each series and the number of shares constituting
such series, which number may be increased (except where otherwise provided by the Board of Directors in its resolution creating such series) or decreased
(but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors;
(2)
Dividend Rates and Rights. The annual rate and frequency of payment of dividends payable on the shares of all series
and the dividend rights applicable thereto, including, in the event of Cumulative Preferred Stock, the date from which dividends shall be cumulative on all
shares of any series issued prior to the record date for the first dividend on shares of such series;
(3)
Redemption. The rights, if any, of the Corporation to redeem; the terms and conditions of redemption; and the redemption
price or prices, if any, for the shares of each, any, or all series;
(4)
Sinking Fund. The obligation, if any, of the Corporation to maintain a sinking fund for the periodic redemption of shares
of any series and to apply the sinking fund to the redemption of such shares;
(5)
Voluntary Liquidation Preferences. The amount payable on shares of each series in the event of any voluntary
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation;
(6)
Conversion Rights. The rights, if any, of the holders of shares of each series to convert such shares into the Corporation’s
Common Stock and the terms and conditions of such conversion; and
(7)
Voting Rights. The voting rights, if any, of the holders of the shares of each series, and any other preferences, and
relative, participating, optional, or other special rights, and any qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof.
c.
Reverse Stock Split. Effective as of 5:00 p.m. Central Standard Time, on November 6, 1998 (referred to herein as “Effective
Time”), every three shares of the Common Stock, par value $.10, issued and outstanding as of the Effective Time were automatically, and without action on
the part of the stockholders, converted and combined into one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of Common Stock, par value $.30, (the
“Reverse Split”). In the case of a holder of shares not
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evenly divisible by three, such holders received in lieu of any fraction of a share, an additional share of Common Stock. As of the Effective Time and
thereafter, a certificate(s) representing shares of Common Stock prior to the Reverse Split were deemed to represent the number of new shares into which the
old shares were convertible.
5.

No Pre-emptive Rights. No shareholder or other person may have any pre-emptive rights.

6.

Special Provisions Permitted To Be Set Forth In Certificate Of Formation:
a.

Interested Directors, Officers, and Shareholders.

(1)
If paragraph (2) below is satisfied, no contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or
officers, or between the Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of the Corporation’s
directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, solely because the director or officer is
present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because his or
their votes are counted for such purpose.
(2)

Paragraph (1) above will apply only if:

(a)
The contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved, or ratified by the
Board of Directors, a committee of the board, or the shareholders;
(b)
The material facts as to the relationship or interest of the director or officer and as to the contract or transaction
are disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes the
contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors
be less than a quorum; or
(c)
The material facts as to the relationship or interest of the director or officer and as to the contract or transaction
are disclosed or are known to the shareholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in
good faith by a vote of the shareholders.
(3)
For purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2) above, common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence
of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.
b.

Indemnification.

(1)
The Corporation shall indemnify, to the extent provided in the following paragraphs, any person who is or was a director,
officer, agent, or employee of the Corporation and any person who serves or served at the Corporation’s request as a director, officer, agent, employee, partner,
or trustee of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise. In the event the provisions of indemnification set forth below are
more restrictive than the provisions of indemnification allowed by the Texas Business Organizations Code, then such persons named above shall
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be indemnified to the full extent permitted by the Texas Business Organizations Code as it may exist from time to time.
(2)
In case of a suit by or in the right of the Corporation against a person named in paragraph (1) above by reason of such
person’s holding a position named in such paragraph (1) hereafter referred to as a derivative suit, the Corporation shall indemnify such person for reasonable
expenses actually incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of the suit, but only if such person satisfies the standard in paragraph
(4) to follow.
(3)
In case of a threatened or pending suit, action, or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative),
other than a derivative suit, hereafter referred to as a non-derivative suit, against a person named in paragraph (1) above by reason of such person’s holding a
position named in such paragraph (1), the Corporation shall indemnify such person if such person satisfies the standard contained in paragraph (4), for
amounts actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of the non-derivative suit as expenses (including court
costs and attorneys’ fees), amounts paid in settlement, judgments, and fines.
(4)
Whether in the nature of a derivative suit or non-derivative suit, a person named in Paragraph (1) above will be
indemnified only if it is determined in accordance with paragraph (5) above that such person:
(a)

acted in good faith in the transaction which is the subject of the suit;

(b)

reasonably believed:

(c)

(i)

his conduct was in the best interests of the Corporation; and

(ii)

in all other cases, that his conduct was not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation; and

in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent will not, of itself, create a
presumption that this person failed to satisfy the standard contained in this paragraph.
(5)

A determination that the standard of paragraph (4) above has been satisfied must be made:

(a)
by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or
respondents in the proceeding; or
(b)
if such quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee of the board of directors, designated to act
in the matter by a majority vote of all directors, consisting solely of two or more directors who at the time of the vote are not named
defendants or respondents in the proceeding; or
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(c)
by special legal counsel selected by the board of directors or a committee of a board by vote as set forth in
subparagraphs (a) and (b) above, or, if such quorum cannot be obtained and such committee cannot be established, by a majority
vote of all directors; or
(d)
proceeding.

by the shareholders in a vote that excludes the vote of directors who are named defendants or respondents in the

(6)
Authorization of indemnification and determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made in the same manner as
the determination that indemnification is permissible, except that if the determination that indemnification is permissible is made by special legal counsel,
authorization of indemnification and determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made in the manner specified by subparagraph (5)(c) above for
the selection of special legal counsel.
(7)
The Corporation may reimburse or pay in advance any reasonable expenses (including court costs and attorneys’ fees)
which may become subject to indemnification under paragraphs (1) through (6) above, but only in accordance with the provisions as stated in paragraph
(5) above, and only after the person to receive the payment (i) signs a written affirmation of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct
necessary for indemnification under paragraph (4), and (ii) undertakes in writing to repay such advances unless it is ultimately determined that such person is
entitled to indemnification by the Corporation. The written undertaking required by this paragraph must be an unlimited general obligation of the director
but need not be secured. It may be accepted without reference to financial ability to make repayment.
(8)
The indemnification provided by paragraphs (1) through (6) above will not be exclusive of any other rights to which a
person may be entitled by law, bylaw, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise.
(9)
The indemnification and advance payment provided by paragraphs (1) through (7) above will continue as to a person who
has ceased to hold a position named in paragraph (1) above and will inure to such person’s heirs, executors, and administrators.
(10)
The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who holds or has held any position named
in paragraph (1) above against any liability incurred by such person in any such position, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the
Corporation would have power to indemnify such person against such liability under paragraphs (1) through (7) above.
(11)
Indemnification payments and advance payments made under paragraphs (1) through (10) above are to be reported in
writing to the shareholders of the Corporation in the next notice or waiver of notice of annual meeting, or within twelve months, whichever is sooner.
c.

Bylaws. The power to alter, amend, or repeal the Bylaws is hereby vested in the Board of Directors.

d.

Non-Cumulative Voting. Directors are to be elected by plurality vote. Cumulative voting is not permitted.

e.
Purchase Own Stock. The Corporation may, directly or indirectly, purchase its own shares to the extent of the aggregate of
unrestricted capital surplus available therefor and unrestricted reduction surplus available therefor.
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f.

Supermajority Vote for Business Combinations.

The affirmative vote of the holders of eighty percent (80%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation at a duly called
meeting of the stockholders shall be required for the approval or authorization of (1) any merger or consolidation of the Corporation with or into another
corporation or entity, or (2) any sale of all or substantially all of the Corporation’s assets to another corporation or entity.
g.

Consideration of Fairness of Business Combinations.

The Board of Directors of the Corporation, when evaluating any offer of another party to (1) purchase or otherwise acquire all or
substantially all of the properties or assets of the Corporation, (2) merge or consolidate the Corporation with or into another corporation or entity, or (3) make
a tender or exchange offer for any equity security of the Corporation, may, in connection with the exercise of its judgment in determining what is in the best
interests of the Corporation and its shareholders, give due consideration to all relevant factors, including, without limitation: (a) the fairness of the price or
financial terms of the proposal, (b) the relationship of the proposal to the value of the Corporation in a transaction of a similar type resulting from arm’s
length negotiations; and (c) the social and economic effects of the proposed transaction on the employees, shareholders and other constituents of the
Corporation and on the communities in which the Corporation operates or is located.
h.

Number and Classification of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than three (3) nor more than nine (9) directors. The number of Directors may be increased or
decreased (within the limits stated above) by resolution of the Board of Directors, but no decrease may have the effect of shortening the term of any
incumbent director. A director may be removed prior to the end of the term for which he is elected only for cause and by the affirmative vote of the holders of
eighty percent (80%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation at a meeting of the stockholders duly called for the consideration of
such removal. At any such time as the Board of Directors shall consist of nine (9) directors, the Board of Directors may by resolution classify the Board into
three (3) classes, each class to consist of three (3) directors. The term of office of directors of the first class shall expire at the first annual meeting of
shareholders after their election, that of the second class shall expire at the second annual meeting after their election, and that of the third class shall expire
at the third annual meeting after their election. At each annual meeting after such classification the number of directors equal to the number of the class
whose term expires at the time of such meeting shall be elected to hold office until the third succeeding annual meeting.
i.

Supermajority Vote for Amendment of this Article.

The provisions set forth in this Article 6 may not be amended, altered, changed or repealed in any respect unless such action is approved by
the affirmative vote of the holders of eighty percent (80%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation at a meeting of the stockholders
duly called for the consideration of such amendment, alteration, change or repeal.
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j.

Limitation of Liability.

No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its shareholders for monetary damages for an act or omission
in the director’s capacity as a director, to the extent permitted by the Texas Business Organizations Code. Neither the amendment nor repeal of this
paragraph shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this paragraph in respect of any matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or claim that, but for this
paragraph, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment or repeal. If the Texas Business Organizations Code is hereinafter amended to authorize corporate
action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the
fullest extent permitted by the Texas Business Organizations Code, as so amended from time to time.
7.
Registered Office and Agent. The street address of the Corporation’s present registered office and the name of its initial registered agent at
such address are as follows:
CT Corporation System
350 N. St. Paul St., Ste. 2900
Dallas, Texas 75201-4234
8.
Directors. The number of directors constituting the present board of directors is six (6), and the names and addresses of the persons who will
serve as directors until the next annual meeting and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified are:
Name

Address

Wayne A. Whitener

101 E. Park Blvd., Ste 955
Plano, TX 75074

William J. Barrett

P. O. Box 6199
Fair Haven, NJ 07704

Herbert M. Gardner

P. O. Box 463
Wading River, NY 11792

Allen T. McInnes

4532 7 th Street
Lubbock, TX 79416

Edward L. Flynn

7511 Myrtle Avenue
Glendale, NY 11385

Stephanie P. Hurtt

P. O. Box 643695
Vero Beach, FL 32964
[Signature Page to Follow]
8

This Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation becomes effective when filed with the Texas Secretary of State.
TGC INDUSTRIES, INC.
By:
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/s/ Wayne A. Whitener
Wayne A. Whitener, President

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
TO THE
AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF FORMATION
OF
TGC INDUSTRIES, INC.
(a Texas Corporation)
February 9, 2015
This CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT (this “Certificate”) is being executed and filed pursuant to Sections 3.051, 3.052, 3.053, 3.054 and 21.364 of the
Texas Business Organizations Code (the “TBOC”). The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. The name of the filing entity is: TGC INDUSTRIES, INC., a Texas for-profit corporation (the “Corporation”). The date of formation of the
Corporation was March 28, 1980, and it has been assigned file number 51318400.
2. The Corporation now desires to changes its name. Accordingly, Article 1 of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation of the
Corporation is hereby revised to read in full:
“Name. The name of the Corporation is DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY”
3. Article 4 of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation of the Corporation is hereby revised to include a new section d. thereof as follows:
“d. 2015 Reverse Split. Effective at 4:02 p.m., Central Time, on February 11, 2015 (referred to herein as “Split Effective Time”),
every three shares of the Common Stock, par value $.01, issued and outstanding as of the Split Effective Time were automatically,
and without action on the part of the shareholders, converted and combined into one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable
share of Common Stock, par value $.01, (the “2015 Reverse Split”). In the case of a holder of shares not evenly divisible by three,
such holders received in lieu of any fraction of a share, an additional share of Common Stock. As of the Split Effective Time and
thereafter, a certificate(s) representing shares of Common Stock prior to the 2015 Reverse Split were deemed to represent the
number of new shares into which the old shares were convertible.”
4. The amendment to the certificate of formation has been approved in the manner required by the TBOC and by the governing documents of the
Corporation.
5. This document becomes effective at 4:02 p.m., Central Time, on February 11, 2015.
[Signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this certificate to be signed this 9th day of February, 2015.
By:

/s/ Wayne A. Whitener
Name:
Wayne A. Whitener
Title:
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 3.2
AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
of
DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY
[as amended February 11, 2015]

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
of
DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY
[as amended February 11, 2015]
Table of Contents
Page No.

ARTICLE I OFFICES
Sec. 1:1.
Registered Office and Agent
Sec. 1:2.
Other Offices

1
1
1

ARTICLE II SHAREHOLDERS
Sec. 2:1.
Place of Meetings
Sec. 2:2.
Annual Meetings
Sec. 2:3.
Special Meetings
Sec. 2:4.
Notice
Sec. 2:5.
Order of Business at Meetings
Sec. 2:6.
Quorum; Majority Vote
Sec. 2:7.
Voting
Sec. 2:8.
Voting by Proxy
Sec. 2:9.
Voting List
Sec. 2:10.
Supermajority Vote for Business Combinations
Sec. 2:11.
Registered Holders of Shares, Closing of Share Transfer Records, and Record Date

1
1
1
4
5
6
7
7
7
8
8
8

ARTICLE III DIRECTORS
Sec. 3:1.
Management
Sec. 3:2.
Place and Notice of Directors’ Meetings
Sec. 3:3.
Quorum of and Action by Directors
Sec. 3:4.
Number and Election of Directors
Sec. 3:5.
Change in Number
Sec. 3:6.
Removal
Sec. 3:7.
Resignation
Sec. 3:8.
Vacancies
Sec. 3:9.
Procedure
Sec. 3:10.
Compensation
Sec. 3:11.
Consideration of Fairness of Business Combinations

10
10
10
11
11
11
11
12
12
12
12
13
i

ARTICLE IV ACTIONS WITHOUT A MEETING; TELEPHONE MEETINGS; WAIVER OF NOTICE
Sec. 4:1.
Actions by Shareholders
Sec. 4:2.
Actions by Directors and Committee Members
Sec. 4:3.
Telephone Meetings
Sec. 4:4.
Waiver of Notice

13
13
14
14
14

ARTICLE V OFFICERS
Sec. 5:1.
Number and Qualification
Sec. 5:2.
Term and Compensation
Sec. 5:3.
Removal; Vacancies
Sec. 5:4.
Authority
Sec. 5:5.
President
Sec. 5:6.
Vice President
Sec. 5:7.
Secretary
Sec. 5:8.
Treasurer

14
14
14
15
15
15
15
16
16

ARTICLE VI CERTIFICATES OF STOCK
Sec. 6:1.
Certificates
Sec. 6:2.
Issuance
Sec. 6:3.
Payment for Shares
Sec. 6:4.
Pre-Emptive Rights
Sec. 6:5.
Lien
Sec. 6:6.
Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Certificates
Sec. 6:7.
Registered Owner
Sec. 6:8.
Transfer of Shares

16
16
17
17
17
17
17
18
18

ARTICLE VII EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Sec. 7:1.
Designation; Authority; Responsibility
Sec. 7:2.
Procedure; Removal; Vacancies
Sec. 7:3.
Meetings; Quorum; Majority Vote
Sec. 7:4.
Action Without Meeting

18
18
18
19
19

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Sec. 8:1.
Notice
Sec. 8:2.
Tax Year and Seal
Sec. 8:3.
Checks and Notes; Books and Records
Sec. 8:4.
Limitation of Liability
Sec. 8:5.
Interested Directors, Officers, and Shareholders
Sec. 8:6.
Indemnification
Sec. 8:7.
Dividends and Reserves
Sec. 8:8.
Purchase Own Shares
Sec. 8:9.
Annual Statement
Sec. 8:10.
Construction
Sec. 8:11.
Amendment of Bylaws

19
19
19
20
20
21
21
24
24
24
24
24
ii

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
of
DAWSON GEOPHYSICAL COMPANY
[as amended February 11, 2015]
ARTICLE I
OFFICES
Sec. 1:1.
Registered Office and Agent. The registered office of Dawson Geophysical Company (the “Corporation”) in the state of Texas is
350 N. St. Paul, Dallas, TX 75201. The name of the registered agent at such address is CT Corporation System.
Sec. 1:2.
Other Offices. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Texas as the Board
of Directors may from time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.
ARTICLE II
SHAREHOLDERS
Sec. 2:1.
Place of Meetings. All meetings of the shareholders are to be held at such place, within or without the State of Texas, as is stated
in the notice of the meeting.
Sec. 2:2.
Annual Meetings. An annual meeting of the shareholders shall be held on such date, and at such time, as the Board of Directors
may fix each year. At the meeting, the shareholders shall elect directors and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.
(A)
Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors, and the proposal of business to be transacted by the shareholders,
may be made at an annual meeting of shareholders: (1) pursuant to the Corporation’s proxy materials with respect to such meeting; (2) by or at the direction
of the Board of Directors; or (3) by any shareholder of record (the “Record Shareholder”) of the Corporation, at the time of the giving of the notice required in
Subsection “(B)” to follow, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this Sec. 2:2. For the
avoidance of doubt, clause “(3)” contained in the preceding sentence will be the exclusive means for a shareholder to make nominations or propose business
(other than business included in the Corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (such Act,
and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, to be hereafter referred to as the “Exchange Act”)) at an annual meeting of shareholders.
(B)
For nominations or business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a Record Shareholder pursuant to clause “(3)”
contained in Subsection “(A)” above:
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(1) the Record Shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation; and (2) any such business must be a proper
matter for shareholder action under Texas law. To be timely, a Record Shareholder’s notice must be received by the Secretary at the principal executive
offices of the Corporation not less than sixty (60) or more than ninety (90) days prior to the one-year anniversary of the date on which the Corporation first
mailed its proxy materials for the preceding year’s annual meeting of shareholders; provided, however, that, subject to the last sentence of this Subsection
(B), if the meeting is convened more than thirty (30) days prior to, or delayed by more than thirty (30) days after, the anniversary of the preceding year’s
annual meeting, or if no annual meeting was held in the preceding year, notice by the Record Shareholder to be timely must be so received not later than the
close of business on the later of: (1) the ninetieth (90 th ) day before such annual meeting; or (2) the tenth (10 th ) day following the day on which public
announcement of the date of such meeting is first made. Notwithstanding anything in the preceding sentence to the contrary, in the event that the number of
directors to be elected to the Board of Directors is increased, and there has been no public announcement naming all of the nominees for director or
indicating the increase in the size of the Board of Directors made by the Corporation at least ten (10) days before the last day a Record Shareholder may
deliver a notice of nomination in accordance with the preceding sentence, a Record Shareholder’s notice herein required shall also be considered timely, but
only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it is received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation not later than the close of business on the tenth (10 th ) day following the day on which such public announcement was first made by the
Corporation. In no event may an adjournment, or postponement of an annual meeting for which notice has been given, commence a new time period for the
giving of a Record Shareholder’s notice.
(C)

Such Record Shareholder’s notice shall set forth:

(1)
if such notice pertains to the nomination of directors, as to each person whom the Record Shareholder proposes to
nominate for election or reelection as a director:
(a)
all information relating to such person as would be required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for the
election of such nominees as directors pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act;
(b)

any other information that the Record Shareholder believes would aid in the evaluation of the recommended

individual;
(c)
written consent of the recommended individual to stand for election if nominated, to serve as a director if
elected, and to comply with the expectations and requirements for service on the Board of Directors set forth in the Code of Ethics and any
other applicable rule, regulation, policy, or standard of conduct applicable to the Board of Directors and its individual members;
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(d)

all relevant information required to conduct an evaluation of such person; and

(e)

all other pertinent information that may be required by applicable laws.

(2)
as to any business that the Record Shareholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of such business,
the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, and any material interest in such business of such Record Shareholder and the beneficial
owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and
(3)
as to the Record Shareholder giving the notice, and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or
proposal is made (each, a “party”):
(a)

the name and address of each such party;

(b)
(i) the class, series, and number of shares of the Corporation that are owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially
and of record by each such party; (ii) any option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation right, or similar right with an exercise or
conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of the Corporation or with a
value derived in whole or in part from the value of any class or series of shares of the Corporation, whether or not such instrument or right is
subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of capital stock of the Corporation or otherwise (a “Derivative Instrument”) directly or
indirectly owned beneficially by each such party, and any other direct or indirect opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from
any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation; (iii) any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding, or relationship
pursuant to which either party has a right to vote, directly or indirectly, any shares of any security of the Corporation; (iv) any short interest
in any security of the Corporation held by each such party (for purposes of this Subsection “(C),” a person will be deemed to have a short
interest in a security if such person directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship, or otherwise, has
the opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any decrease in the value of the subject security); (v) any rights to dividends on
the shares of the Corporation owned beneficially directly or indirectly by each such party that are separated or separable from the
underlying shares of the Corporation; (vi) any proportionate interest in shares of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments held, directly or
indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which either party is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an
interest in a general partner; and (vii) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that each such party is directly or
indirectly entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments, if any, as of the
date of such notice, including without limitation any such interests held by members of each
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such party’s immediate family sharing the same household (which information set forth in this Subsection “(C)” shall be supplemented by
such shareholder or such beneficial owner, as the case may be, not later than ten (10) days after the record date for the meeting to disclose
such ownership as of the record date); and
(c)
any other information relating to each such party that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or
other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal and/or for the election of
directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act.
(D)
A person will not be eligible for election or re-election as a director at an annual meeting unless: (1) the person is nominated by a
Record Shareholder in accordance with Subsection “(A)(3)” above; or (2) the person is nominated by, or at the direction of, the Board of Directors. Only such
business may be conducted at an annual meeting of shareholders as has been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in
Subsection “(C)” above. The Chairman of the meeting will have the power and the duty to determine whether a nomination, or any business proposed to be
brought before the meeting, has been made in accordance with the procedures set forth in these Bylaws and, if any proposed nomination or business is not in
compliance with these Bylaws, to declare that such defectively proposed nomination or business may not be presented for shareholder action at the meeting
and shall be disregarded.
(E)
For purposes of these Bylaws, “public announcement” will mean disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News
Service, Associated Press, or a comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14, or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.
(F)
This Sec 2:2 is expressly intended to apply to any proposal to be brought before an annual meeting of shareholders other than any
proposal made pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Sec. 2:2, a shareholder shall also comply
with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to matters set forth in this Sec 2:2. Nothing in this Sec 2:2 may be deemed to affect any
rights of shareholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.
Sec. 2:3.

Special Meetings.

(A)
Special meetings of the shareholders may be called: (1) by the President or the Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution
adopted by a majority of the Whole Board; or (2) by the holders of at least ten percent (10%) of all the shares entitled to vote at the proposed special
meeting. For purposes of these Bylaws the term “Whole Board” will mean the total number of authorized Directors whether or not there exist any vacancies
in previously authorized directorships. Subject to applicable law, the Board of Directors may postpone or reschedule any
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previously scheduled special meeting. The record date for determining shareholders entitled to call a special meeting is the date the first shareholder signs
the notice of that meeting.
(B)
Only such business may be conducted at a special meeting of shareholders as has been brought before the meeting pursuant to the
Corporation’s notice of meeting. The notice of such special meeting shall include the purpose for which the meeting is called. Nominations of persons for
election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of shareholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the Corporation’s notice
of meeting: (1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; or (2) by any Record Shareholder at the time of giving of notice provided for in this
Subsection “(B),” who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who delivers a written notice to the Secretary setting forth the information set forth in Sec. 2:2
“(C)” of these Bylaws. Nominations by shareholders of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at such a special meeting of shareholders
only if such Record Shareholder’s notice required by the preceding sentence has been received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90 th ) day prior to such special meeting or the tenth (10 th ) day following the day
on which public announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such
meeting. In no event may an adjournment, or postponement of a special meeting for which notice has been given, commence a new time period for the giving
of a Record Shareholder’s notice. A person will not be eligible for election or reelection as a director at a special meeting unless the person is nominated:
(1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; or (2) by a Record Shareholder in accordance with the notice procedures set forth in this Sec. 2:3.
(C)
This Sec. 2:3 is expressly intended to apply to any proposal to be brought before a special meeting of shareholders other than any
proposal made pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Sec. 2:3, a shareholder shall also comply
with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to matters set forth in this Sec. 2:3. Nothing in this Sec. 2:3 shall be deemed to affect any
rights of shareholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.
Sec. 2:4.

Notice.

(A)
Written or printed notice stating the place, day, and hour of the meeting, the means of any remote communications by which
shareholders may be considered present and may vote at the meeting, and, in case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is
called, shall be delivered not less than ten (10) days nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting, personally, by electronic transmission, or by
mail, by or at the direction of the President, the Secretary, or the officer or person calling the meeting, to each shareholder entitled to vote at such meeting. If
mailed, such notice will be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail addressed to the shareholder at his, her, or its address as it
appears on the share transfer records of the Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid.
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(B)

Notice by Electronic Transmission.

(1)
On consent of a shareholder, notice from the Corporation may be given to the shareholder by electronic transmission. The
shareholder may specify the form of electronic transmission to be used to communicate notice. The shareholder may revoke this consent by written
notice to the Corporation. The shareholder’s consent is deemed to be revoked if the Corporation is unable to deliver by electronic transmission two
consecutive notices, and the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, or transfer agent of the Corporation, or another person responsible for delivering notice
on behalf of the Corporation, knows that delivery of these two electronic transmissions was unsuccessful. The inadvertent failure to treat the
unsuccessful transmissions as a revocation of shareholder consent does not invalidate a meeting or other action.
(2)

Notice under this Subsection “(B)” is deemed given when the notice is:
(a)

transmitted to a facsimile number provided by the shareholder for the purpose of receiving notice;

(b)

transmitted to an electronic mail address provided by the shareholder for the purpose of receiving notice;

(c)
posted on an electronic network and a message is sent to the shareholder at the address provided by the
shareholder for the purpose of alerting the shareholder of a posting; or
(d)

communicated to the shareholder by any other form of electronic transmission consented to by the shareholder.

(3)
An affidavit of the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, transfer agent, or other agent of the Corporation that notice has been
given by electronic transmission is, in the absence of fraud, prima facie evidence that the notice was given.
Sec. 2:5.
Order of Business at Meetings. The order of business at annual meetings, and so far as practicable at other meetings of
shareholders, will be as follows unless changed by the Board of Directors:
(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)
(E)
(F)
(G)
(H)
(I)

Call to order
Proof of due notice of meeting
Determination of quorum and examination of proxies
Announcement of availability of voting list
Announcement of distribution of annual statement
Reading and disposing of minutes of last meeting of shareholders
Reports of officers and committees
Appointment of voting inspectors
Unfinished business
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(J)
(K)
(L)
(M)
(N)
(O)
(P)
(Q)

New business
Nomination of directors
Opening of polls for voting
Recess
Reconvening; closing of polls
Report of voting inspectors
Other business
Adjournment

Sec. 2:6.
Quorum; Majority Vote. With respect to any meeting of shareholders, a quorum will be deemed present for any matter to be
presented at that meeting if the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at the meeting are represented at the meeting in person or by proxy. Once a
quorum is present at a meeting of shareholders, the shareholders represented in person or by proxy at the meeting may conduct such business as may be
properly brought before the meeting until it is adjourned, and the subsequent withdrawal from the meeting of any shareholder, or the refusal of any
shareholder represented in person or by proxy to vote, will not affect the presence of a quorum at the meeting. Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of
Incorporation or these Bylaws, the shareholders represented in person or by proxy at a meeting of shareholders at which a quorum is not present may adjourn
the meeting until such time, and to such place, as may be determined by a vote of the holders of a majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at
that meeting.
Sec. 2:7.

Voting.

(A)
Vote Per Share. Each outstanding share, regardless of class, shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a
meeting of shareholders.
(B)
Voting on Matters Other than the Election of Directors. With respect to any matter, other than the election of Directors or a matter
for which the affirmative vote of the holders of a specified portion of the shares entitled to vote is required by the Act, the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the shares entitled to vote on, and that voted for or against or
expressly abstained with respect to, that matter at a meeting of shareholders at which a quorum is present will be the act of the shareholders, unless otherwise
provided in the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws.
(C)
Voting for the Election of Directors. Directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the holders of shares entitled to
vote in the election of Directors at a meeting of shareholders at which a quorum is present. At each election for Directors, every shareholder entitled to vote at
such election will have the right to vote the number of shares owned by him, her, or it for as many persons as there are Directors to be elected and for whose
election he, she, or it has a right to vote; cumulative voting is specifically prohibited.
Sec. 2:8.
Voting by Proxy. Any shareholder may vote either in person or by proxy executed in writing by the shareholder. A telegram,
telex, cablegram, or other form of electronic transmission, including telephone transmission, by the shareholder, or a photographic photostatic,
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facsimile, or similar reproduction of a writing executed by the shareholder, shall be treated as an execution in writing for purposes of this Sec. 2:8. Any
electronic transmission must contain or be accompanied by information from which it can be determined that the transmission was authorized by the
shareholder. No proxy will be valid after eleven (11) months from the date of its execution unless otherwise provided in the proxy. A proxy will be
revocable unless the proxy form conspicuously states that the proxy is irrevocable and the proxy is coupled with an interest.
Sec. 2:9.
Voting List. The officer or agent having charge of the share transfer records for shares of the Corporation shall make, at least ten
(10) days before each meeting of shareholders, a complete list of the shareholders entitled to vote at such meeting or any adjournment thereof, arranged in
alphabetical order, with the address of and the number of shares held by each, which list, for a period of ten (10) days prior to such meeting, shall be kept on
file at the registered office or principal place of business of the Corporation and shall be subject to inspection by any shareholder at any time during usual
business hours. Alternatively, the list of shareholders may be kept on a reasonably accessible electronic network, if the information required to gain access to
the list is provided with the notice of the meeting. If the Corporation elects to make the list available on an electronic network, the Corporation shall take
reasonable steps to ensure that the information is available only to shareholders of the Corporation. Such list shall also be produced and kept open at the
time and place of the meeting and shall be subject to the inspection of any shareholder during the whole time of the meeting. If the meeting is held by means
of remote communication, the list must be open to the examination of any shareholder for the duration of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic
network, and the information required to access the list must be provided to shareholders with the notice of the meeting.
Sec. 2:10.
Supermajority Vote for Business Combinations. The affirmative vote of the holders of eighty percent (80%) or more of the issued
and outstanding shares of the Corporation at a duly called meeting of the shareholders will be required for the approval or authorization of: (1) any merger or
consolidation of the Corporation with or into another corporation or entity; or (2) any sale of all or substantially all of the Corporation’s assets to another
corporation or entity.
Sec. 2:11.

Registered Holders of Shares, Closing of Share Transfer Records, and Record Date.

(A)
Registered Holders as Owners. Unless otherwise provided in the Act, and subject to the provisions of Chapter 8-Investment
Securities of the Texas Business & Commerce Code, the Corporation may regard the person in whose name any shares issued by the Corporation are
registered in the share transfer records of the Corporation at any particular time (including, without limitation, as of a record date fixed pursuant to Subsection
“(B)” or “(C)” of this Sec. 2:11) as the owners of those shares at that time for purposes of voting those shares, receiving distributions thereon or notices in
respect thereof, transferring those shares, exercising rights of dissent with respect to those shares, exercising or waiving any preemptive right with respect to
those shares, or giving proxies with respect to those shares.
(B)
Fixing Record Dates for Matters Other Than Consents to Action. For the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to notice
of, or to vote at, any meeting of shareholders
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or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to receive a distribution by the Corporation (other than a distribution involving a purchase or redemption by the
Corporation of any of its own shares) or a share dividend, or in order to make a determination of shareholders for any other proper purpose (other than
determining shareholders entitled to consent to action by shareholders proposed to be taken without a meeting of shareholders), the Board of Directors of the
Corporation may provide that the share transfer records will be closed for a stated period but not to exceed, in any case, sixty (60) days. If the share transfer
records are closed for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, a meeting of shareholders, such records shall be closed for at
least ten (10) days immediately preceding such meeting. In lieu of closing the share transfer records, the Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as the
record date for any such determination of shareholders, such date in any case to be not more than sixty (60) days and, in the case of a meeting of shareholders,
not less than ten (10) days, prior to the date on which the particular action requiring such determination of shareholders is to be taken. If the share transfer
records are not closed and no record date is fixed for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders, or
shareholders entitled to receive a distribution (other than a distribution involving a purchase or redemption by the Corporation of any of its own shares) or a
share dividend, the date on which notice of the meeting is mailed or the date on which the resolution of the Board of Directors declaring such distribution or
share dividend is adopted, as the case may be, will be the record date for such determination of shareholders. When a determination of shareholders entitled
to vote at any meeting of shareholders has been made as above provided, such determination shall apply to any adjournment thereof (except where the
determination has been made through the closing of the share transfer records and the stated period of closing has expired).
(C)
Fixing Record Dates for Consents to Action. Unless a record date has previously been fixed or determined as above provided,
whenever action by shareholders is proposed to be taken by consent in writing without a meeting of shareholders, the Board of Directors may fix a record date
for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to consent to that action, which record date may not precede, and may not be more than ten (10) days
after, the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors. If no record date has been fixed by the Board of
Directors and the prior action of the Board of Directors is not required by the Act, the record date for determining shareholders entitled to consent to action in
writing without a meeting shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is delivered to the
Corporation as provided by Sec. 4:1 of these Bylaws. Delivery shall be by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. Delivery to the
Corporation’s principal place of business shall be addressed to the President or the principal executive officer of the Corporation. If no record date has been
fixed by the Board of Directors and prior action of the Board of Directors is required by the Act, the record date for determining shareholders entitled to
consent to action in writing without a meeting shall be at the close of business on the date on which the Board of Directors adopts a resolution taking such
prior action.
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ARTICLE III
DIRECTORS
Sec. 3:1.
Management. The powers of the Corporation shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the
Corporation shall be managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Directors need not be residents of the State of Texas or
shareholders of the Corporation.
Sec. 3:2.

Place and Notice of Directors’ Meetings.
(A)

Meetings of the Board of Directors, regular or special, may be held either within or without the State of Texas.

(B)
Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held (without notice) immediately following the annual meeting of
shareholders and at the same place unless (by unanimous consent of the Directors then elected and serving) such time or place is changed. Special meetings
of the Board of Directors may be called by the President on three (3) days’ notice to each Director either personally or by mail or by electronic transmission.
Special meetings shall be called by the President in like manner, and on like notice, in response to the written request of any three (3) Directors. Attendance
of a Director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting
to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose
of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting, unless required by these
Bylaws.
(C)
On consent of a Director, notice of the date, time, place, or purpose of a regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors may be
given to the Director by electronic transmission. The Director may specify the form of electronic transmission to be used to communicate notice. The
Director may revoke this consent by written notice to the Corporation. The Director’s consent will be deemed to be revoked if the Corporation is unable to
deliver by electronic transmission two consecutive notices, and the Secretary of the Corporation or other person responsible for delivering the notice on
behalf of the Corporation knows that the delivery of these two electronic transmissions was unsuccessful. The inadvertent failure to treat the unsuccessful
transmissions as a revocation of the Director’s consent will not invalidate a meeting or other action. Notice under this Sec. 3:2 is deemed given when the
notice is:
(1)

transmitted to a facsimile number provided by the Director for the purpose of receiving notice;

(2)

transmitted to an electronic mail address provided by the Director for the purpose of receiving notice;
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(3)
posted on an electronic network and a message is sent to the Director at the address provided by the Director for the
purpose of alerting the Director of a posting; or
(4)

communicated to the Director by any other form of electronic transmission consented to by the Director.

Sec. 3:3.
Quorum of and Action by Directors. A majority of the number of Directors fixed by, or in the manner provided in, the Articles of
Incorporation or these Bylaws will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a
quorum is present will be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by law or the Articles of Incorporation or these
Bylaws.
Sec. 3:4.

Number and Election of Directors.

(A)
The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than one nor more than nine (9) Directors. The Directors are to be elected at the
annual meeting of shareholders, except as hereafter provided. Unless removed in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws, each director will hold
office for the term for which such director is elected and until such director’s successor has been elected and qualified.
(B)
At any such time as the Board of Directors shall consist of nine (9) directors, the Board of Directors may by resolution classify the
Board into three (3) classes, each class to consist of three (3) directors. The term of office of directors of the first class shall expire at the first annual meeting
of shareholders after their election, that of the second class shall expire at the second annual meeting after their election, and that of the third class shall
expire at the third annual meeting after their election. At each annual meeting after such classification the number of directors equal to the number of the
class whose term expires at the time of such meeting shall be elected to hold office until the third succeeding annual meeting.
Sec. 3:5.
Change in Number. The number of Directors may be increased or decreased (within the limits stated in Sec. 3:4 above) by
resolution of the Board of Directors, but no decrease may have the effect of shortening the term of any incumbent director. Any directorship to be filled by
reason of an increase in the number of directors is to be filled by election at an annual meeting or at a special meeting of shareholders called for that purpose.
Sec. 3:6.
Removal. A Director may be removed prior to the end of the term for which he or she is elected only “for cause” at a special or
annual meeting of shareholders by the affirmative vote of the holders of eighty percent (80%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation
if notice of intention to act upon such matter has been given in the notice calling such meeting. For this purpose, the term “for cause” will be deemed to
mean:
(A)

Commission of an act of gross negligence in the performance of his or her duties or obligations;
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(B)

Commission of any act of fraud, malfeasance, disloyalty, or breach of trust against the Corporation;

(C)

Refusal, or substantial inability, to perform the duties assigned in good faith to him or her;

(D)

Death; or

(E)

Commission of acts of moral turpitude or dishonesty in Corporation’s affairs or gross insubordination or the equivalent.

Sec. 3:7.
Resignation. A Director may resign at any time by giving notice in writing or by electronic transmission to the Corporation. The
Director’s resignation will take effect on the date the notice is received by the Corporation, unless the notice prescribes a later effective date or states that the
resignation takes effect on the occurrence of a future event. If the Director’s resignation is to take effect on a later date or on the occurrence of a future event,
the resignation will be deemed effective on the later date or when the event occurs. The Director’s resignation will be irrevocable when it takes effect. The
Director’s resignation is revocable before it takes effect unless the notice of resignation expressly states that it is irrevocable.
Sec. 3:8.

Vacancies.

(A)
Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors (by death, resignation, removal, or otherwise) may be filled by the affirmative
vote of a majority of the remaining directors though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors. A director elected to fill a vacancy is to be elected for the
unexpired term of such director’s predecessor in office.
(B)
A directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of Directors may be filled by the Board of Directors for a term of
office continuing only until the next election of one or more Directors by the shareholders; provided that the Board of Directors may not fill more than two
such directorships during the period between any two successive annual meetings of shareholders.
Sec. 3:9.
of the Corporation.

Procedure. The Board of Directors shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings. The minutes shall be placed in the minute book

Sec. 3:10.
Compensation. By resolution of the Board of Directors, the Directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each
meeting of the Board of Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or a stated salary as a Director. No
such payment will preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. Members of the Executive
Committee or of special or standing committees may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, be allowed like compensation for attending committee
meetings.
12

Sec. 3:11.
Consideration of Fairness of Business Combinations. The Board of Directors of the Corporation, when evaluating any offer of
another party to: (1) purchase or otherwise acquire all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Corporation; (2) merge or consolidate the
Corporation with or into another corporation or entity; or (3) make a tender or exchange offer for any equity security of the Corporation, may, in connection
with the exercise of its judgment in determining what is in the best interests of the Corporation and its shareholders, give due consideration to all relevant
factors, including, without limitation: (a) the fairness of the price or financial terms of the proposal; (b) the relationship of the proposal to the value of the
Corporation in a transaction of a similar type resulting from arm’s length negotiations; and (c) the social and economic effects of the proposed transaction on
the employees, shareholders, and other constituents of the Corporation and on the communities in which the Corporation operates or is located.
ARTICLE IV
ACTIONS WITHOUT A MEETING;
TELEPHONE MEETINGS; WAIVER OF NOTICE
Sec. 4:1.

Actions by Shareholders.

(A)
Any action required by the Act to be taken at any annual or special meeting of shareholders, or any action which may be taken at
any annual or special meeting of shareholders, may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing,
setting forth the action so taken, have been signed by the holder or holders of all the shares entitled to vote with respect to the action that is the subject to the
consent.
(B)
A telegram, telex, cablegram, or other electronic transmission by a shareholder consenting to an action to be taken is considered to
be written, signed, and dated for the purposes of this Sec. 4:1 if the transmission sets forth no change, or is delivered with information from which the
Corporation can determine that the transmission was transmitted by the shareholder
and the date on which the shareholder transmitted the transmission. The date of transmission is the date on which the consent was signed. Consent given by
telegram, telex, cablegram, or other electronic transmission may not be considered delivered until the consent is reproduced in paper form and the paper form
is delivered to the Corporation at its registered office in this state or its principal place of business, or to an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody
of the book in which proceeds of shareholder meetings are recorded. Consent given by telegram, telex, cablegram, or other electronic transmission may be
delivered to the principal place of business of the Corporation or to an officer or agent of the Corporation having custody of the book in which proceedings
of shareholder meetings are recorded to the extent and in the manner provided by resolution of the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
(C)
Any photographic, photostatic, facsimile, or similarly reliable reproduction of a consent in writing signed by a shareholder may be
substituted or used instead of the original writing for any purpose for which the original writing could be used, if the reproduction is a complete reproduction
of the entire original writing.
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Sec. 4:2.
Actions by Directors and Committee Members. Unless otherwise restricted by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any
action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing,
setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all the members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be. A telegram, telex, cablegram, or
other electronic transmission by a Director consenting to an action to be taken and transmitted by a Director is considered written, signed, and dated for the
purposes of this Sec. 4:2 if the transmission sets forth or is delivered with information from which the Corporation can determine that the transmission was
transmitted by the Director and the date on which the Director transmitted the transmission. Such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous
vote at a meeting, and may be stated as such in any document or instrument filed with the Secretary of State.
Sec. 4:3.
Telephone Meetings. Subject to the provisions required or permitted by the Act for notice of meeting, unless otherwise restricted
by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, shareholders, members of the Board of Directors, or members of any committee designated by such Board,
may participate in and hold a meeting of such shareholders, Board, or committee by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by
means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this Sec. 4:3 shall constitute presence
in person at such meeting, except where a person participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the
ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
Sec. 4:4.
Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any shareholder or Director of the Corporation, a waiver thereof
in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before or
after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent to the giving of such notice. The business to be transacted at a regular or special meeting of the shareholders,
Directors, or members of a committee of Directors or the purpose of a meeting is not required to be specified in a written waiver of notice or a waiver by
electronic transmission.
ARTICLE V
OFFICERS
Sec. 5:1.
Number and Qualification. The officers of the Corporation will consist of a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, and a
Treasurer, to be elected by the Board of Directors on the expiration of an officer’s term or whenever a vacancy exists. The Corporation may also have such
other officers including additional vice presidents and agents as the Board of Directors may deem necessary, each of whom may be elected by the Board at
any meeting. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person. No officer or agent need be a shareholder, a Director, or a resident of the State of
Texas.
Sec. 5:2.
Term and Compensation. Unless otherwise specified by the Board at the time of election or appointment or in an employment
contract approved by the Board, each officer’s and agent’s term is to end at the first meeting of Directors held after the next annual meeting of the
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shareholders. Such officer or agent shall serve until the end of such person’s term or, if earlier, such person’s death, resignation, or removal. The
compensation of senior officers and agents is to be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors.
Sec. 5:3.
Removal; Vacancies. Any officer or agent or member of a committee elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be
removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served thereby, but such removal will be without
prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment of an officer or agent or member of a committee will not of itself
create contract rights. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation (by death, resignation, removal, or otherwise) may be filled by the Board of
Directors.
Sec. 5:4.

Authority.

(A)
All officers and agents of the Corporation, as between themselves and the Corporation, will have such authority and perform such
duties in the management of the Corporation as may be provided in these Bylaws or as may be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors not
inconsistent with these Bylaws.
(B)
In the discharge of any duty imposed or power conferred upon an officer of the Corporation, the officer may in good faith and
ordinary care rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, concerning the Corporation or
another person, that were prepared or presented by:
(1)

one or more other officers or employees of the Corporation including members of the Board of Directors; or

(2)
legal counsel, public accountants, investment bankers, or other persons as to matters the officer reasonably believes are
within the person’s professional or expert competence.
An officer is not relying in good faith within the meaning of this Subsection “(B)” if the officer has knowledge concerning the
matter in question that makes reliance otherwise permitted by this Subsection “(B)” unwarranted.
Sec. 5:5.
President. The President will be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation; will have general and active management of the
business and affairs of the Corporation; will preside as chairman at all meetings of the shareholders and the Board of Directors; and the Corporation’s day to
day business operations; and shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time
prescribe.
Sec. 5:6.
Vice President. The Vice Presidents, in the order of their seniority unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, shall, in
the absence or disability of the President, perform the duties of the President. They shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and powers
as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or as the President may from time to time delegate.
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Sec. 5:7.
Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of the shareholders, shall record all
votes and the minutes of all proceedings in a book to be kept for that purpose, and shall perform like duties for the executive committee when required. The
Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the shareholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall keep
in safe custody the seal of the Corporation and, when authorized by the Board of Directors or the executive committee, affix the same to any instrument
requiring it. When so affixed, such seal is to be attested by the Secretary’s signature or the signature of the Treasurer or an assistant Secretary. The Secretary
shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and power as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or as the President may
from time to time delegate.
Sec. 5:8.
Treasurer. The Treasurer will have custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of
receipts and disbursements of the Corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such
depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of
Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and directors, at the regular meetings of the Board or whenever
they may require it, an account of all transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation. If required by the Board of Directors, the
Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in such form, in such sum, and with such surety or sureties as is satisfactory to the Board for the faithful
performance of the duties of the Treasurer’s office and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of the Treasurer’s death, resignation, retirement, or
removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money, and other property of whatever kind in such person’s possession or under such person’s control
belonging to the Corporation. The Treasurer shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and powers as the Board of Directors may from
time to time prescribe or as the President may from time to time delegate.
ARTICLE VI
CERTIFICATES OF STOCK
Sec. 6:1.
Certificates. Every owner of shares of the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate certifying the number of shares owned
by such owner in the Corporation and designating the class of shares to which such shares belong, which shall otherwise be in such form, in conformity to
law, as the Board of Directors shall prescribe. Each certificate representing shares shall state upon the face thereof: (a) that the Corporation is organized
under the laws of the State of Texas; (b) the name of the person to whom issued; (c) the number and class of shares and the designation of the series, if any,
which such certificate represents; and (d) the par value of each share represented by such certificate or a statement that the shares are without par value. Each
certificate shall be signed by such officer or officers as the Board of Directors may prescribe, or, if not so prescribed, by the President or a Vice President and
the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Corporation. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be facsimiles if the certificate is countersigned
by a transfer agent or registered by a registrar, either of which is other than the Corporation itself or an employee of the
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Corporation. In case any officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon such certificate has ceased to be such officer before such
certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer on the date of its issuance. However,
notwithstanding what is stated above, the Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of some or all of any or all classes or series of shares of the
Corporation without certificates in conformity with the applicable requirements of the Act. No authorization of uncertificated shares may affect previously
issued and outstanding shares represented by certificates until such certificates have been surrendered to the Corporation. Upon request, every holder of
uncertificated shares will be entitled to receive a certificate.
Sec. 6:2.
Issuance. Shares (both treasury and authorized but unissued) may be issued for such consideration (not less than par value) and to
such persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. Shares may not be issued until the full amount of the consideration, fixed as
provided by law, has been paid.
Sec. 6:3.
Payment for Shares. The consideration paid for the issuance of shares is to consist of money paid, labor done (including services
actually performed for the Corporation), or property (tangible or intangible) actually received. Neither promissory notes nor the promise of future services
may constitute payment or part payment for shares of the Corporation. In the absence of fraud in the transaction, the judgment of the Board of Directors as to
the value of the consideration received for shares will be conclusive. When such consideration has been paid to the Corporation, the shares will be deemed to
have been issued, the shareholder entitled to receive such issue will be a shareholder with respect to such shares, and the shares will be considered fully paid
and nonassessable. The consideration received for shares will be allocated by the Board of Directors in accordance with law between stated capital and
capital surplus accounts.
Sec. 6:4.
Pre-Emptive Rights. No shareholder or other person may have any preemptive rights whatsoever to acquire additional, unissued,
or treasury shares of the Corporation, or securities of the Corporation convertible into or carrying a right to subscribe to or acquire shares, or any other
securities or property whatsoever.
Sec. 6:5.
Lien. For any indebtedness of a shareholder to the Corporation, the Corporation will have a first and prior lien on all shares of its
stock owned by such shareholder and on all dividends or other distributions declared thereon.
Sec. 6:6.
Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Certificates. The Corporation shall issue a new certificate in place of any certificate for shares
previously issued if the registered owner of the certificate: (A) makes proof in affidavit form that it has been lost, destroyed, or wrongfully taken; (B) requests
the issuance of a new certificate before the Corporation has notice that the certificate has been acquired by a purchaser for value in good faith and without
notice of an adverse claim; (C) gives a bond in such form, and with such surety or sureties, with fixed or open penalty as the Corporation may direct, to
indemnify the Corporation (and its transfer agent and registrar, if any) against any claim that may be made on account of the alleged loss, destruction, or theft
of the certificate; and (D) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the Corporation. When a certificate has been lost, apparently destroyed, or
wrongfully taken, and the holder of record fails to
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notify the Corporation within a reasonable time after such holder has notice of it, and the Corporation registers a transfer of the shares represented by the
certificate before receiving such notification, the holder of record is precluded from making any claim against the Corporation for the transfer or for a new
certificate.
Sec. 6:7.
Registered Owner. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of a certificate for shares, the Corporation may treat the
registered owner as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notices, and otherwise to exercise all the rights and powers of a shareholder.
Sec. 6:8.
Transfer of Shares. Transfers of shares of the Corporation shall be made only on the books of the Corporation, if such shares are
certificated, by the surrender to the Corporation or its transfer agent of the certificate therefore properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment or
power of attorney properly executed, with transfer stamps (if necessary) affixed, or upon proper instructions from the holder of uncertificated shares, in each
case, with such proof of the authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require.
ARTICLE VII
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Sec. 7:1.
Designation; Authority; Responsibility. The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the full Board of
Directors fixed by the Bylaws, designate from among its members an executive committee and one or more other committees, each of which shall be
comprised of one or more members and, to the extent provided in such resolution, will have and may exercise all of the authority of the Board of Directors,
except that no such committee may have the authority of the Board of Directors to amend the Articles of Incorporation, approve a plan of merger or
consolidation, recommend to the shareholders the sale, lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the Corporation otherwise
than in the usual and regular course of its business, recommend to the shareholders a voluntary dissolution of the Corporation or a revocation thereof, amend,
alter, or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation or adopt new Bylaws for the Corporation, fill vacancies in or remove members of the Board of Directors of any
such committee, fix the compensation of any member of such committee, or alter or repeal any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its terms
provides that it is not so amendable or repealable; and, unless such resolution, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws of the Corporation expressly so
provide, no such committee may declare a dividend or authorize the issuance of shares of the Corporation. The designation of such committee and the
delegation thereto of authority will not operate to relieve the Board of Directors or any member thereof of any responsibility imposed by law.
Sec. 7:2.
Procedure; Removal; Vacancies. The executive committee shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings and report the same to
the Board of Directors when required. The minutes of the proceedings of the executive committee are to be placed in the minute book of the Corporation.
Any member of the executive committee elected or appointed by the Board of
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Directors may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served thereby. A vacancy
occurring in the executive committee (by death, resignation, removal, or otherwise) may be filled by the Board of Directors in the manner provided above for
original designation.
Sec. 7:3.
Meetings; Quorum; Majority Vote. The time, place, and notice (if any) of executive committee meetings shall be determined by
the executive committee. At meetings of the executive committee, a majority of the number of members designated by the Board of Directors will constitute
a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present will be the act of the
executive committee except as otherwise specifically provided by statute or by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws. If a quorum is not present at
a meeting of the executive committee, the members present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at
the meeting, until a quorum is present.
Sec. 7:4.
Action Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the executive committee may be taken
without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all the members of the executive committee. Any such signed
consent, or a signed copy thereof, is to be placed in the minute book of the Corporation. Further, but subject to the provisions required or permitted for notice
of meetings, the members of the executive committee may participate in and hold a meeting of such members of the executive committee by means of
conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation
in a meeting pursuant to this provision will constitute presence in person at such meeting except where a person participates in the meeting for the express
purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Sec. 8:1.
Notice. Whenever by statute, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws notice is required to be given to a director or
shareholder, and no provision is made as to how the notice is to be given, it is not to be construed to mean personal notice, but any notice may be given:
(A) in writing, by mail, sufficient postage prepaid, addressed to the director or shareholder at the address appearing on the books of the Corporation; or (B) in
any other method permitted by law. Any notice required or permitted to be given by mail will be deemed given at the time when the same is deposited in the
United States mail.
Sec. 8:2.
Tax Year and Seal. The tax year of the Corporation is to be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors. The corporate seal (of
which there may be one or more exemplars) will contain the name of the Corporation. The seal may be used by impressing it or reproducing a facsimile of it
or otherwise.
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Sec. 8:3.

Checks and Notes; Books and Records.

(A)
All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation are to be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or
persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.
(B)
The Corporation shall keep books and records of account and shall keep minutes of the proceedings of its shareholders, its Board
of Directors, and each committee of its Board of Directors. The Corporation shall keep at its registered office or principal place of business, or at the office of
its transfer agent or registrar, a record of the original issuance of shares issued by the Corporation and a record of each transfer of those shares that have been
presented to the Corporation for registration of transfer. Such records shall contain the names and addresses of all past and current shareholders of the
Corporation and the number and class or series of shares issued by the Corporation held by each of them. Any books, records, minutes, and share transfer
records may be in written form or in any other form capable of being converted into written paper form within a reasonable time. The principal place of
business of the Corporation, or the office if its transfer agent or registrar, may be located outside the State of Texas.
(C)
A Director may examine the Corporation’s books and records of account, share transfer records, corporate minutes, and any other
corporate books and records for any purpose reasonably related to the Director’s service as a Director.
(D)
Any person who has been a shareholder for at least six (6) months immediately preceding his, her, or its demand, or shall be the
holder of at least five percent (5%) of all the outstanding shares of a Corporation, upon written demand stating the purpose thereof, shall have the right to
examine, in person or by agent, accountant, or attorney, at any reasonable time or times, for any proper purpose, its relevant books and records of account,
minutes, and share transfer records, and to make extracts therefrom.
(E)
Upon the written request of any shareholder of the Corporation, the Corporation shall mail to such shareholder its annual
statements for its last fiscal year showing in reasonable detail its assets and liabilities and the results of its operations and the most recent interim statements,
if any, which have been filed in a public record or otherwise published. The Corporation shall be allowed a reasonable time to prepare such annual
statements.
Sec. 8:4.
Limitation of Liability. No Director of the Corporation may be held personally liable to the Corporation or its shareholders for
monetary damages for an act or omission in the Director’s capacity as a Director, except that this paragraph does not eliminate or limit the liability of a
Director for: (1) breach of a Director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation; (2) an act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a
knowing violation of the law; (3) a transaction from which a Director received an improper benefit, whether or not the benefit resulted from an action taken
within the scope of the Director’s office; (4) an act or omission for which the liability of a Director is expressly provided for by statute; or (5) an act related to
an unlawful corporate distribution. Neither the amendment nor repeal of this Sec 8:4 may eliminate or reduce the effect of this Sec 8:4 in respect of any
matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or
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claim that, but for this Sec 8:4, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment or repeal. If the Act or the Texas Miscellaneous Corporation Laws Act is
hereinafter amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of Directors, then the liability of a Director of the
Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the Act or the Texas Miscellaneous Corporation Laws Act, as so amended from
time to time.
Sec. 8:5.

Interested Directors, Officers, and Shareholders.

(A)
If Subsection “(B)” below is satisfied, no contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or
officers, or between the Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of the Corporation’s
Directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, solely because the Director or officer is
present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because his or
their votes are counted for such purpose.
(B)

Subsection “(A)” above will apply only if:

(1)
The contract or transaction is fair to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved, or ratified by the Board of
Directors, a committee of the Board, or the shareholders; or
(2)
The material facts as to the relationship or interest of the Director or officer and as to the contract or transaction are
disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested Directors, even though the disinterested Directors be less than a quorum; or
(3)
The material facts as to the relationship or interest of the Director or officer and as to the contract or transaction are
disclosed or are known to the shareholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by a vote of the
shareholders.
(C)
For purposes of Subsections “(A)” and “(B)” above, common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of
a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.
Sec. 8:6.

Indemnification.

(A)
The Corporation shall indemnify, to the extent provided in the following Subsections, any person who is or was a Director, officer,
agent, or employee of the Corporation and any person who serves or served at the Corporation’s request as a Director, officer, agent, employee, partner, or
trustee of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise. In the event the provisions of indemnification set forth below are
more restrictive than the provisions of indemnification allowed by Article 2.02-1 of the Act, then such persons named
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above shall be indemnified to the full extent Permitted by Article 2.02-1 of the Act as it may exist from time to time.
(B)
In case of a suit by or in the right of the Corporation against a person named in Subsection “(A)” above by reason of such person’s
holding a position named in such Subsection “(A),” hereafter referred to as a derivative suit, the Corporation shall indemnify such person for reasonable
expenses actually incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of the suit, but only if such person satisfies the standard in Subsection
“(D)” to follow.
(C)
In case of a threatened or pending suit, action, or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative), other than a
derivative suit, hereafter referred to as a non-derivative suit, against a person named in Subsection “(A)” above by reason of such person’s holding a position
named in such Subsection “(A),” the Corporation shall indemnify such person if such person satisfies the standard contained in Subsection “(D),” for amounts
actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of the non-derivative suit as expenses (including court costs
and attorneys’ fees), amounts paid in settlement, judgments, and fines.
(D)
Whether in the nature of a derivative suit or non-derivative suit, a person named in Subsection “(A)” above will be indemnified
only if it is determined in accordance with Subsection “(E)” below that such person:
(1)

acted in good faith in the transaction which is the subject of the suit; and

(2)

reasonably believed:

(a)
the best interests of the Corporation; and
(b)

if acting in his official capacity as Director, officer, agent or employee of the Corporation, that his conduct was in
in all other cases, that his or her conduct was not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation.

(3)
in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The
termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent will not, of itself, create a
presumption that such person failed to satisfy the standard herein contained.
(E)

A determination that the standard contained in Subsection “(D)” above has been satisfied must be made:

(l)
by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or
respondents in the proceeding; or
(2)
matter by a majority vote of all

if such quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee of the Board of Directors, designated to act in the
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Directors, consisting solely of two or more Directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding; or
(3)
by special legal counsel selected by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board by vote as set forth in
subparagraphs (1) or (2) above, or, if such quorum cannot be obtained and such a committee cannot be established, by a majority vote of all Directors; or
(4)

by the shareholders in a vote that excludes the vote of Directors who are named defendants or respondents in the

proceeding.
(F)
Authorization of indemnification and determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made in the same manner as the
determination that indemnification is permissible, except that if the determination that indemnification is permissible is made by special legal counsel,
authorization of indemnification and determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made in the manner specified by paragraph “(E)(3)” above for
the selection of special legal counsel.
(G)
The Corporation may reimburse or pay in advance any reasonable expenses (including court costs and attorneys’ fees) which may
become subject to indemnification under Subsections “(A)” through “(F)” above, but only in accordance with the provisions as stated in Subsection “(E)”
above, and only after the person to receive the payment: (i) signs a written affirmation of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of
conduct necessary for indemnification under Subsection “(D);” and (ii) undertakes in writing to repay such advances unless it is ultimately determined that
such person is entitled to indemnification by the Corporation. The written undertaking required by this Subsection “(G)” must be an unlimited general
obligation of the Director but need not be secured. It may be accepted without reference to financial ability to make repayment.
(H)
The indemnification provided by Subsections “(A)” through “(F)” above will not be exclusive of any other rights to which a
person may be entitled by law, these Bylaws, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested Directors, or otherwise.
(I)
The indemnification and advance payment provided by Subsections “(A)” through “(G)” above will continue as to a person who
has ceased to hold a position named in Subsection “(A)” above and will inure to such person’s heirs, executors, and administrators.
(J)
The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who holds or has held any position named in
Subsection “(A)” above against any liability incurred by such person in any such position, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the
Corporation would have power to indemnify such person against such liability under Subsections “(A)” through “(G)” above.
(K)
Indemnification payments and advance payments made under Subsections “(A)” through “(J)” above are to be reported in writing
to the shareholders of the
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Corporation at the next notice or waiver of notice of annual meeting, or within twelve months, whichever is sooner.
Sec. 8:7.
Dividends and Reserves. Subject to statute and the Articles of Incorporation, dividends may be declared by the Board of Directors
at any regular or special meeting and may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the Corporation. The declaration and payment will be at the discretion
of the Board of Directors. By resolution the Board of Directors may create such reserve or reserves out of the earned surplus of the Corporation as the
Directors from time to time in their discretion think proper to provide for contingencies, to equalize dividends, to repair or maintain any property of the
Corporation, or for any other purpose they believe to be beneficial to the Corporation. The Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner
in which it was created.
Sec. 8:8.
Purchase Own Shares. The Corporation may, directly or indirectly, purchase its own shares to the extent of the aggregate of
unrestricted capital surplus available therefor and unrestricted reduction surplus available therefor.
Sec. 8:9.
Annual Statement. At least ten days before each annual meeting, the Board of Directors shall mail to each shareholder of record a
full and clear statement of the business and condition of the Corporation including a reasonably detailed balance sheet, income statement, and surplus
statement, all prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis.
Sec. 8:10.
Construction. Whenever the context so requires, the masculine will include the feminine and neuter, and the singular will include
the plural, and conversely. If any portion of these Bylaws is determined invalid or inoperative, then, so far as is reasonable and possible, the remainder of
these Bylaws is to be considered valid and operative, and effect is to be given to the intent manifested by the portion held invalid or inoperative. The table
of contents and headings used in these Bylaws have been inserted for convenience only and do not constitute matters to be construed in interpretation.
Sec. 8:11.
Amendment of Bylaws. These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed at any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a
quorum is present by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present at such meeting (provided that notice of the proposed alteration, amendment,
or repeal is contained in the notice of such meeting). This power is subject to repeal or change by action of the shareholders.
DATED to be effective February 11, 2015.
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Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
As of March 16, 2015
Dawson Operating Company, a Texas corporation
Dawson Seismic Services Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Dawson Seismic Services ULC, a Canadian corporation
Eagle Canada, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Exploration Surveys, Inc., a Texas corporation
Tidelands Geophysical Co., Inc., a Texas corporation

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of our reports relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting dated March 16, 2015 included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dawson Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC
Industries, Inc.) for the year ended December 31, 2014 to its Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File No. 333-142221 and File No. 333-201923) and its
Post-Effective Amendment on Form S-8 to its Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-199922).
/s/ Lane Gorman Trubitt, PLLC
Dallas, Texas
March 16, 2015

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Stephen C. Jumper, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dawson Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc.);

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and
b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: March 16, 2015

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, James K. Brata, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dawson Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc.);

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and
b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 16, 2015

/s/ James K. Brata
James K. Brata
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification of
Chief Executive Officer
of TGC Industries, Inc. Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
This certification is furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63
of Title 18, United States Code) and accompanies the annual report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, of Dawson
Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc.) (the “Company”). I, Stephen C. Jumper, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify that, to the best of my knowledge:
(1)

The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 601(6)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and, accordingly, is not being filed as part
of the Form 10-K for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the
registrant, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ Stephen C. Jumper
Stephen C. Jumper
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
Certification of
Chief Financial Officer of
TGC Industries, Inc.
Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
This certification is furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63
of Title 18, United States Code) and accompanies the annual report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, of Dawson
Geophysical Company (formerly known as TGC Industries, Inc.) (the “Company”). I, James K. Brata, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify that,
to the best of my knowledge:
(1)

The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 601(6)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and, accordingly, is not being filed as part
of the Form 10-K for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the
registrant, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
Date: March 16, 2015

By:

/s/ James K. Brata
James K. Brata
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

